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SNV is a not-for-profit international 
development organisation. Founded 
in the Netherlands in 1965, we have 
built a long-term, local presence in 
over 30 countries in Asia, Africa and 
Latin America. Our global team of 
local and international advisors 
works with local partners to equip 
communities, businesses and 
organisations with the tools, 
knowledge and connections they 
need to increase their incomes and 
gain access to basic services – 
empowering them to break the cycle 
of poverty and guide their own 
development.
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Country programmes
In 2015, SNV implemented over 300 projects in more than 30 countries across Africa, Asia and Latin 
America. 

Bolivia

El Salvador

Honduras

Nicaragua

Peru

 

Nepal

Cambodia

Indonesia

Bhutan

Vietnam

Lao PDR

Bangladesh

21 countries in Africa

7 countries in Asia

 

Mali

Burkina Faso
Ghana

Niger

Benin
Cameroon

Central African Republic

Equatorial Guinea

South Sudan

Ethiopia

Uganda
Kenya

Rwanda

TanzaniaGabon

Mozambique
Congo Brazzaville

DR Congo

Zimbabwe

Zambia

Senegal

5 countries in Latin America
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From the Supervisory Board
2015 marked an end of an era for SNV; the end of 50 years of being largely dependent on the Dutch 
government for financial support. 2015 also marked the end of an institutional and organisational 
transformation period, which started in 2011. 

In that year, SNV with guidance from a new Supervisory Board, 
set out to redefine its mission and vision, its organisational 
culture, structure, work processes and systems. It did this 
while simultaneously finding ways to replace the yearly 
guaranteed income from the Dutch government (on average 
around EUR 90 million per year) with funds from alternative 
sources. To do this, it had to take on a business approach, scan 
the market for new opportunities with new funders and 
partners, operate more efficiently and be more cost-
competitive. It was a crucial and difficult time for SNV. 

By being proactive and implementing these transformative 
changes early, SNV has not only achieved its goals, it has 
exceeded them. In 2011, revenue from external funding 
amounted to just over EUR 31 million. In 2016, SNV is on 
target to reach revenues of at least EUR 105 million. This 
shows that the donor community at large values SNV’s work. 

SNV’s work is now more focused. Each of its three sectors 
(Agriculture, Energy, and Water, Sanitation & Hygiene) has 
refined and adapted its approach to tackle some of the most 
challenging aspects of poverty alleviation, such as climate 
change and pressure on water resources. Overhead costs have 
significantly reduced, productivity has increased and savings 
have been invested in programmes.

The Supervisory Board expresses its sincere appreciation for all 
efforts made by SNV staff and for the results already obtained. 
The hard work will not only serve the continuity of SNV as an 
organisation, but, more importantly, contribute significantly to 
SNV’s main objective of reducing poverty worldwide. 
Throughout its transformation process SNV has ensured its 
mission prevailed.

SNV uses a development model that works – a model that 
bridges the gaps between governments, businesses, civil 
society and low-income communities, and strengthens their 
skills to produce results. And in 2015, this model helped SNV 
improve the life of over 8 million people. 

Witnessing SNV’s work in action
On one occasion in 2015, two members of the Supervisory 
Board travelled to Laos and Cambodia to see SNV’s work. 
On-site visits were conducted by Evelyne Vinke-Smits and 
Bernard ter Haar to see for themselves the results of projects 
in (amongst others) increased rice production, faecal sludge 
management and the realisation of an Open Defecation Free 

(ODF) village. In meeting local producers of ceramic cook 
stoves, they were impressed by how well an incremental 
improvement of these cookstoves, coupled with the market 
structure and support provided by SNV, has such a profound 
impact on the wellbeing of men, women, children and 
communities as a whole. The improved cookstoves sell for EUR 
3.5, which is just EUR 1 more than the comparable traditional 
ceramic stove. They are, however, 25% more efficient and save 
time on cooking and expenses on fuel. Last but not least, they 
contribute to the health of the users.

Celebrating half a century of development 
50 years is a notable milestone for any organisation – a 
milestone worthy of celebration. SNV’s anniversary event in 
October 2015, clearly showed how SNV has transformed from a 
volunteer organisation, which sent young Dutch men and 
women to do what we can now call ‘old-fashioned’ development 
work, to a professional organisation that now employs just 
under 1300 people, of whom over 80% are national staff. 

Numerous distinguished guests, including His Majesty King 
Willem Alexander, attended the event. The program also 
offered a deeply appreciated chance to (re-) connect for more 
than one thousand people who were once affiliated to SNV. 

Just after this event I took over the Chairmanship of the 
Supervisory Board from Arthur Arnold. I like to pay tribute to 
him and to the former Deputy-Chair Hans Huis in ‘t Veld for the 
inspiring way in which they led the Supervisory Board in 
assisting SNV’s Managing Board in its complex tasks.

The Supervisory Board is convinced that SNV is ready for the 
future. New challenges are bound to appear. However, if SNV 
continues its growth path, addresses the obstacles to poverty 
alleviation and innovates ways to tackle these issues, SNV will 
continue to achieve its goals and contribute to a world where 
every man, woman and child is free from poverty.

Koos Richelle, Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

For detailed activities of the Supervisory Board, see page 42.
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From the Managing Board
What a year 2015 was for SNV! We celebrated our 50 year 
anniversary with two magnificent events – one even attended 
by the King of The Netherlands – and we also marked the final 
year of half a century of institutional support of the Dutch 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs. It was an anxious but also exciting 
year for SNV. It was the final year to get everything in place for 
the “real take off” – to be able to spread our wings and fly 
completely solo. It also marked the final year of the four-year 
programme funded by DGIS.

When we started in 2011 to devise a strategy for the upcoming 
transition period, we knew we had an enormous challenge in 
front of us. We had to achieve the intended development 
results of supporting 15 million people to improve the quality of 
their lives while at the same time changing the structure and 
approach of the organisation to secure a sound future for SNV. 
This included massive cost reductions at both the country level 
and at the head office in The Hague.

As one can imagine, there was a level of uncertainty; a level of 
nervousness. We all asked the questions: What will happen 
after 2015? Will SNV still exist and if so, in what form? It was 
only natural to ask those questions. However, the organisation 
and its staff quickly started asking: What can we do to make 
the transformation a success? Where can we improve our 
operations and reduce costs? And this focus and determination 
to transform the organisation into a results-driven, fully-
financial secure organisation, which is an expert in its defined 
sectors, has paid off. 

Up until the end of 2015, SNV relied on a significant amount of 
generic funding from the Dutch government, but today we rely 
solely on funding from grants and tenders. After 2011 we put 
measures in place to improve the quality of our work and take 
on a more business-like approach to securing project funding. 
And this transformation has not slowed down the size of our 
operations but it has rather increased. In 2016 we expect to 
see revenue grow to at least EUR 105 million.
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The success of transforming SNV into well-respected, 
independent development organisation is thanks to the support 
and determination of all SNV staff. Without their 
professionalism, dedication to sustainable development, and 
adoption and implementation of SNV’s mission and vision, none 
of this would have been possible. The restructuring of the 
organisation, however, also meant that we had to say goodbye 
to SNV staff who had been with us for many years. We thank 
them for all their hard work and wish them all the best for the 
future. 

A major goal for 2015 was to strengthen SNV’s project 
management capacities. We updated our project management 
manual, which is now aligned with our Business Development 
guidelines and our global project information database. We 
finalised the training of more than 450 staff to become more 
efficient in starting, managing and implementing projects 
within time, budget and according to specification. Even though 
this training has improved our project management ability, 
there is still room for improvement. With challenges remaining, 
however, in 2015 we had considerably better results than 
expected. We implemented projects worth EUR 94 million (plan 
was EUR 75 million) of non-DGIS programme funding. This was 
partly due to an order portfolio that grew faster than expected 
but was also due to a stricter discipline in managing 
implementation. 

Sector Number of Beneficiaries of SNV projects

Agriculture 2.3 million people with increased food 
security, income, employment and/or 
resilience to climate change.

WASH 4.3 million people with access to clean 
water, safe sanitation and hygiene.

Renewable 
Energy

1.6 million people with increased income 
and/or employment, and/or using 
renewable energy for lighting, domestic and 
commercial uses

Total 8.2 million people benefited from SNV 
projects in 2015

In 2015, order intake hit a new record of EUR 155 million. This 
was 25% higher than planned and greatly contributed to the 
intended diversification of our funding base. This growth 
represents the confidence of the international donor community 
in SNV’s work. Notable was the EUR 35 million contract that 
SNV and knowledge institute IFPRI signed for a global 
partnership with DGIS on a 5-year evidence-based advocacy 
programme. The programme will strengthen the capacities of 
civil society organisations in six countries to articulate their 
thoughts and ideas and engage themselves in the public debate 
and serve the interests of low-income groups. 

To support Local Development Organisations improve their 
business models and adapt and prepare for a successful future 
in their own country, SNV and the training consultancy firm, 
Context, international cooperation, developed the Leadership 
Enhancement Action Programme (LEAP). The LEAP programme 
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SNV 50 Years
July 16, 2015 marked exactly 50 years since the SNV was 
officially founded by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs. To 
celebrate this milestone, SNV organised two events: one for 
distinguished guests, including the King of the Netherlands - 
His Majesty King Willem Alexander - and the other for SNV staff 
both past and present.

The first event was held on October 6, 2015, at the Diligentia 
Theatre in The Hague. Apart from His Majesty King Willem 
Alexander, the event was attended by around 350 guests, 
including ministers, politicians, ambassadors, donors and 
partners. The event showcased major events and milestones 
SNV achieved over the past 50 years and also featured a panel 

discussion on the present and future state of development 
cooperation. 

The second event, held on October 10, 2015, was attended by 
around 1000 past and present SNV staff. The less formal event 
provided an opportunity for staff members to reunite and 
exchange stories of their time with SNV. 

A special anniversary edition of SNV’s yearly magazine - SNV 
Connect - was published and distributed at both events. The 
magazine featured moments which have shaped SNV into the 
organisation it is today and included interviews with members 
of the first group of SNV volunteers. 

was successfully rolled out globally in 2015 with 114 leaders of 
Local Development Organisations trained in improving their 
project management and business skills. The LEAP 
methodology and curriculum has been contextualised and 
integrated into new project proposals. 

SNV’s global footprint was also maintained in 2015. We avoided 
the planned closure of the Cameroon programme by winning 
more work in the country. It is now managed by our office in 
Rwanda. The Niger programme has been brought under Mali 
and preparations have started to merge management of Benin 
with Burkina Fasso. 

Under the title “SNV Fit for the Future”, our 50-year 
anniversary celebrations were a time to not only reflect on the 
history of SNV but also explore the challenges and 
opportunities to constructively engage with our partners in an 
endeavour to create a fair and sustainable future for everybody. 
The overwhelming interest in the events showed that SNV has 
special place in the hearts and minds of colleagues from the 
development sector and (former) employees. 

In 2015, SNV developed a new strategy paper for 2016 to 
2018. It consolidates the progress that has been made in the 
previous period (2012-2015) while intensifying our engagement 
in combating the impact of climate change, investing in 
integrated water resource management, addressing challenges 
in the urban context and in applying new technologies to 
achieve and account for results. More than ever we will bridge 

the gap between policies and implementation and take proven 
interventions to scale and increase their effectiveness and 
reach. We expect SNV to grow considerably in the coming years 
and strengthen its position in the international development 
arena.

We would like to thank DGIS for 50 years of support, our staff, 
donors and partners, who have all made SNV’s work 
meaningful. Let’s continue towards achieving our goal – a world 
where all people, irrespective of race, class or gender, enjoy 
the freedom to pursue their own sustainable development.

Allert van den Ham, Chief Executive Officer, 
On behalf of the Managing Board

SNV Managing Board (from left to right): Megan Ritchie; Michel Farkas; Allert van 
den Ham; Andy Wehkamp; Tom Derksen

SNV 50 Years Anniversary Event (from left to right): His Majesty King Willem 
Alexander; Allert van den Ham (SNV CEO); Arthur Arnold (Chairman of SNV 
Supervisory Board August 2011 - October 2015)

One of the first group of SNV volunteers

Panel discussion at SNV 50 Years Anniversary Event
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Priorities and results for 2015
SNV set 15 corporate priorities for 2015 – each linked to the finalisation of SNV’s transition into the post-
subsidy period of 2016 (and beyond) and to prepare SNV as an innovative, soundly controlled, and 
financially secure international development organisation. As the theme of our 50 years’ anniversary 
stated: SNV – Fit for the future!

The priorities have been divided into three categories: 

• Operational Priorities (focusing on SNV’s fieldwork, 
sector plans and SNV as a product leader)

• Transitional Priorities (focusing on finalising the 
necessary steps towards the post programme subsidy 
period in 2016)

• Organisational Priorities (keeping focus in the 
organisation while strengthening processes, procedures, 
systems and management control). 

Below are the results of the 15 Priorities for 2015: 

Operational Priorities
1. In 2015, the global programmes for Agriculture, 

Renewable Energy and WASH were executed as 
planned. The execution of the programmes resulted in 
259,000 advisory days (planned 258,000, an increase of 
0.4%). SNV realized in 2015 an overall programme 
implementation budget of EUR 139 million (planned EUR 
128 million). DGIS funded 32% of this programme. 
More importantly, 16 million people benefitted from SNV’s 
programmes. In 2015, SNV reached 8.2 million new 
people: 2.3 million in agriculture, 4.3 million in WASH and 
1.6 million in Renewable Energy. This exceeded our target 
by 6%.

2. In 2015, all countries have been using SNV’s Planning, 
Monitoring & Evaluation Tool (PME). To support countries 
in improving their planning and monitoring, generic 
theories of change have been developed and implemented, 
with matching sets of indicators at impact and outcome 
level that can be adapted to the local context. The DGIS-
agreed six impact assessments are on track, four of them 
already were finalised in 2015. 

3. SNV has made enormous progress in high quality 
project implementation. We exceeded the set target of 
EUR 75 million realised revenue by 25%, resulting in EUR 
94 million. This gives SNV a solid base to realise revenue 
in excess of EUR 100 million in 2016, without any generic 
government subsidy. 

4. In the identified innovation and development 
investment areas, the following results have been 
produced:

a. The investment in gender and youth employment paid 
off in 2015. Newly designed solutions these areas 
were introduced and resulted in an increase in 
revenue of EUR 10 million. SNV adapted a gender 
policy in December 2015, both for its programmes and 
internal operations.

b. Based on a study into the market potential of 
Integrated Water Resource Management (IWRM), SNV 
has included this offering in its strategy for the coming 
years.

c. REAP (REDD+ approaches in Renewable Energy and 
Agriculture) came to an end as a project in 2015. Full 
embedding took place of its knowledge products in 
SNV’s standard project design, where relevant. 

d. SNV’s successful Junior Professional Programme ended 
in 2015. It delivered 10 young professionals to the 
development sector, four of them still working for SNV.

5. As a follow up of the IOB evaluation, SNV implemented a 
leadership programme for its Local Capacity Builders 
(LCBs). In less than year, SNV was able to roll out this 
programme across three continents. Out of the 135 
participants, 114 completed the course, expressing a high 
level of satisfaction for both content and process. During 
2015, the leadership modules of this programme have 
become part of SNV’s toolkit for project design.

Transitional Priorities
6. SNV has been successful in maintaining its global 

footprint, while managing its dynamic country portfolio. 
SNV will enter 2016 with 22 operational countries, 5 
project countries and 6 countries where SNV executes 
programmes without any additional infrastructure. In 
2015, SNV Niger was put under the management of SNV 
Mali; SNV Benin and SNV Burkina Faso prepared a merger; 
and SNV Cameroon didn’t close its operations but revived 
on new donor contracts. Cameroon will be managed by 
SNV’s Rwanda office.

7. The corporate overhead of SNV has substantially 
reduced in preparation of 2016. To limit costs to EUR 8 
million (plan 2016), SNV’s corporate operations decreased 
both its number of departments (merging Strategy, 
Communications and Business Development into one new 
unit) as well as its number of decentralised administration 
hubs. A good example of cost saving was the move of the 
SNV Head Office to a new location (83 Parkstraat, The 
Hague) where the costs for rent and facilities were reduced 
by more than 50% while employee satisfaction in the new 
open and flexible work environment increased 
tremendously. 

8. In 2015, the implementation of the HR strategy started 
to take shape. Pools of available, high level candidates 
for upcoming projects were created and managed, both at 
national and sectoral level. This increased SNV’s 
deployment speed in the start-up of new projects. To 
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support SNV’s strategy as a product and thought leader, 
communities of practice materialised through learning 
events, road shows and senior professionals. However, 
SNV also continued its path of rightsizing. In the second 
half of 2015, SNV had to let go of around 20 staff not 
being paid by donor contracts and finalised the 
implementation of cost-cutting measures as agreed in its 
Collective Labour Agreement 2014–2016.

9. SNV’s Business Development strategy is a success 
story. Order intake for 2015 is at EUR 154.6 million, EUR 
29.6 million above target. SNV’s turnover reached an 
all-time high of EUR 144 million. During 2015 new tools, 
policies and training was introduced, contributing to this 
result.

10. SNV focussed its communication efforts in 2015 around its 
50 years’ anniversary. On 6 October 2015, SNV 
celebrated this occasion in the presence of His Majesty 
King Willem Alexander. On October 10 2015, SNV’s reunion 
attracted more than a thousand past and present staff 
members, giving physical testimony to the long and special 
history of SNV.

Organisational Priorities
11. SNV has developed a new strategy that will guide the 

organisation for the period 2016–2018. In essence, it is a 
continuation of the successful strategy of 2012–2015 with 
a renewed focus on areas such as quality implementation 
at scale, the needs of middle-income countries, developing 
solutions for urban settings, and a roll out of smartphone 
technology in our programmes. You can find SNV’s strategy 
at www.snv.org.

12. The implementation of a central treasury function 
began in the second half of 2015, but will need full 
completion in the first half of 2016. SNV has established an 
18 month rolling forecast on its liquidity position, which is 
quarterly reviewed by the Managing Board and Audit & 
Risk Committee, and took out foreign exchange 
revaluations from the countries’ result reports.

13. On the design and implementation of a new fiscal 
architecture for SNV, no progress was made. Although 
individual fiscal issues have been managed, this priority 
needs follow up in 2016.

14. For 2015, the implementation of a cloud based 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system was 
planned, enabling SNV to support its project 
implementation in the field, enforcing usage of best 
practices in SNV’s processes and delivering real-time, 
accurate management information. Although progress was 
made, this SAP by Design project was seriously delayed 
and will need another year for implementation. SNV has 
decided to replace its implementing partner in Q4 2015.

15. In 2015, the Internal Control Framework was reviewed 
and necessary adaptations were implemented. The overall 
results of SNV’s control self-assessment improved to 
compliance of 88% (2014: 77%). Also, the general IT 
controls were maintained at a satisfactory level. For 2016, 
focus will be on full adherence to these frameworks in 
order to optimise SNV’s control environment.

SNV’s Business Development strategy is a success story. Order intake is at 
EUR 154.6 million for 2015, which is EUR 28.6 million above target. 

http://www.snv.org
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SNV’s path to financial independence 
(2012-2015)
Since its inception in 1965, SNV had been dependent on programme subsidy from the Dutch Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs to operate. In 2011, however, it was announced that this guaranteed subsidy would 
definitely cease by the end of 2015, bringing 50 years of full financial dependence on the Dutch 
Government to a halt. If SNV was to survive beyond 2015, it would have to implement some drastic 
changes to become a fully independent, financially and institutionally sound organisation.

In 2011, SNV set out to become a valued, self-reliant 
development organisation, which has constructive relations 
with the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs (DGIS) as well as in 
the Dutch political arena, is well positioned in the international 
donor market and able to attract sufficient funding to realise its 
development mission. 

To guide that process, SNV formulated a new strategy (SNV 
Strategy 2011-2015). In summary it called for:

• A focus on development issues related to food, energy 
and water.

• Three roles for its staff: Advisory Services, Knowledge 
Networking and Evidence-based Advocacy.

• Programme activities that aim at systemic change and 
local ownership to achieve contextualised solutions.

• Organisational structure with decentralised corporate 
operational functions, engaging more local staff, flexible 
labour relations, a flatter management set-up (less 
layers) and the introduction of sector steering.

• An entrepreneurial culture to foster SNV’s ability to 
position itself in a competitive donor environment and to 
qualify for diversified programme and project funding.

• Products and services that are: recognised for their 
excellence, cost competitive, market-oriented, and allow 
for full cost recovery.

The Strategy Paper 2011-2015 was converted into the 
Corporate Multi-Annual Plan 2013-2015 that guided SNV 
throughout the years on a more operational basis.

The goal for SNV was to ensure that “In a dynamic 
international environment SNV is recognised and sought-after 
for its ability to deliver quality results at a competitive price”. 

Through our programmes in Agriculture, Renewable Energy, 
and WASH SNV aimed to realise the following from 2013 to 
2015:

• High quality programming at scale and to improve of 
the quality of life of 15 million people.

• Effective innovation and renewal: systematically 
pursue quality improvement in design, implementation 
and documentation of programmes

• Ambitious but realistic business development goals: 
create the infrastructure to mobilise EUR 170 million from 
customers in addition to DGIS programme funding.

• Organisational transformation: reshape the 
organisation from being supply to demand driven, and 
ensure sufficient room for quality improvement; agility in 

responding to challenges and opportunities; reduce costs, 
optimise results and guarantee accountability to 
customers, clients and beneficiaries

Specific operational targets and adaptation of expectations on 
the nature and volume of funding and programmes have been 
supplied in the annual operational plans. Early in the process, 
an agreement was reached on defining the required buffer 
capital and a ‘global outline for the transition’ was drafted.

2012: the Starting Point
2012 was characterised by a mixture of closing down, 
restructuring and initiating new activities. 

To achieve the required focus, SNV withdrew from the Balkans. 
SNV programmes in the region were either concluded or taken 
over by a new organisation CNVP (Connecting Natural Values 
and People – established by SNV staff) that also mobilised 
funds for new programme initiatives in the Balkans running into 
2017. 

In 2012, SNV withdrew from the Balkans; programmes were either concluded or 
handed over to another organisation.

SNV honoured existing commitments (from the 2007-2015 
Multi-Annual Plan) to establish Local Capacity Development 
Facilities but would not make new investments. To complete the 
strategic repositioning, SNV exited from four sectors: Health, 
Education, Forestry and Tourism. The workforce stabilised at 
the (reduced) 2011 level.

The organisational structure was redesigned with the regional 
management structure and the Head Office merging into one 
Global Support Unit. This helped to support in-country sector 
steering as well reduce costs.

A Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation tool was developed and 
introduced to capture SNV’s development results and report 
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them to DGIS. To manage the pipeline of projects and 
programmes, the Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
system, Salesforce, was implemented. Realised revenue from 
non-DGIS programme subsidy increased by 26% to EUR 39 
million. A 90% growth in order intake to EUR 72 million was 
realised. 

2013: Getting the basics up and running
SNV had set out to establish a dynamic country portfolio 
reflecting both developmental needs and market realities. In 
that context, the Ecuador office closed whereas new operations 
were started in Bangladesh and Indonesia. 

In terms of innovation and investment priorities, REDD+ in 
Energy and Agriculture Programme (REAP) commenced, 
formulating nine knowledge products and a “siting tool” to 
determine sustainable development opportunities in 
environmentally critical landscapes. In the Junior Professional 
Programme, 12 graduates were placed in the advisory practice 
at country level. 

Although Impact Investment Advisory Services (IAAS) 
generated significant interest it proved not possible to develop 
it into a financially self-supporting business activity. Therefore, 
it was decided to end it as a separate innovation area.

Sector steering and merging regional layers into a Global 
Support Unit (GSU) was put into effect. After dissolving the 
regional management structure, the management relationship 
between the country teams and the GSU became more direct 
thus simultaneously decreasing transaction costs (time, 
money) and increasing compliance and accountability. 

Area based steering was replaced by a sector approach 
including sector steering. Global sector teams (sector directors, 
global sector coordinators) operating from Asia and Africa were 
appointed. In-country geographical portfolio coordinators were 
replaced by specialist sector leaders. 

For the first time, Latin American countries and Vietnam 
operated without programme subsidy and realised an 
operational profit that could be added to corporate equity.

The three sectors established global sector plans and 
commenced their implementation. Each country developed a 
business plan that was translated into a roadmap for change, 
focusing on reducing country overhead costs, improving 
business development and improving quality. For country 
teams to adapt to the post-2015 funding context, it was 
decided not to allocate DGIS programme funding upfront to 
countries but to let them compete for funding on the basis of 
project proposals to be vetted by the Managing Board.

SNV developed an appropriate financial system for SNV’s 
evolving multi-donor environment (known as Black and White) 
– to be implemented in 2014 – as well as an Internal Control 
Framework and an IT Internal Control Framework.

Order intake hit a new record of EUR 100 million, and revenue 
from non-DGIS programme funding reached almost 50 million 
Euro. To implement the growing order portfolio, the global 
workforce increased to 1189. 

Most importantly, approximately 7.8 million people benefited 
from SNV projects. 

2014: Showing a Quality Face
To improve the quality and discipline of project management, 
i.e. implementation which is on time, within budget and 
according to specification, a standard project management 
manual with complementary online tools was developed and 
rolled out, job descriptions for project managers designed, and 
more than 400 staff trained. Staff terms and conditions were 
reviewed and adapted to increase the flexibility of the 
organisation. 

In 2014, countries and the GSU developed strategies to reduce 
operational costs, to start “living within their means” and to 
make ‘indirect’ costs ‘direct’, as much as possible. This would 
complement their 2013 business plans, which largely focused 
on improving business development and quality, and reducing 
costs.

To ensure quality of budgeting and pricing of bigger proposals, 
the Business Development department extended its services by 
offering a global budget facility. 

SNV studied Results-Based Funding (RBF) – the tying of 
payments to the delivery of development results – and 
prepared itself for tapping into this growing resource market.

In 2013, IOB published its Between Ambitions and Ambivalence 
- Mid-term Evaluation SNV programme 2007-2015. In 
response, SNV agreed with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to 
initiate a number of activities that address the sustained access 
of local organisations to capacity building services in the long 
term, improve the focus of SNV activities on poor people – by 
extending impact to women and youth – and give insight into 
results for the period 2013-2015 through independent and 
qualified impact evaluations. Preparations for follow-up in 
2014-2015 started. 

The ambitious resource diversification strategy proved to again 
be successful. Order intake grew by 26% to EUR 126 million 
and non-programme funding revenue increased by 39% to EUR 
69 million. 

The total number of people who benefited from SNV 
programmes from 2013 to 2014 increased to 11.7 million.

Order intake reached EUR 126 million and the global workforce increased to over 
1300 in 2014; approximately 11.7 million people benefitted from SNV projects from 
2013 to 2014.
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2015: Living 2016+ Reality
Virtually all remaining projects funded from the DGIS 
programme subsidy were closed in time. Anticipating the 
absence of unrestricted funding, SNV and ECPDM released a 
final, special edition of its magazine, Capacity.org, titled: 
Capacity building beyond Aid.

In response to the mid-term IOB programme evaluation – 
covering 2007-2011 – SNV formulated and implemented an 
approach to train leaders of Local Capacity Building enterprises 
on the strategic aspects of adapting and renewing their social 
business to changing conditions. The Leadership Enhancement 
Action Programme (LEAP) trained 114 leaders from 19 
countries in a 10-month programme, which will contribute to 
the sustainability of their operations. Some of the modules that 
were developed and tested are now part of various other 
programmes that will be implemented in the coming 3-5 years, 
for example, the Evidence-based Advocacy Strategic 
Partnership and the Funding Leadership and Opportunities for 
Women programme.

IOB’s critical remarks about the limited inclusiveness of SNV’s 
approach led to a sharpened policy on gender and on 
participation of excluded groups (the Balancing Benefits 
approach). SNV commissioned six impact evaluations to 
account for the results post 2011. Four out of the six 
evaluations were assessed by an independent reference group 
and accepted by SNV. Two more evaluations are expected to be 
finalised early 2016.

The 2011-2015 Strategy in retrospect
In 2011 the aim was to develop SNV into “a flexible 
organisation that is recognised and sought-after for its ability 
to deliver quality results at a competitive price”. Assuming that 
donors are only prepared to put money on the table if they are 
convinced that their interests are well served, the allocation of 
ample resources to SNV by more than 70 donors – compared 
to handful in 2010 – can be considered a valid proxy indicator 
for their sincere appreciation of the quality of the SNV work. 
The increase of resources mobilised annually from 17 million in 
2010 to EUR 155 million – with a total order intake for the 
period 2013-2015 of EUR 380 million (compared to a planned 
order intake of EUR 170 million) is testimony to the success.

In 2016 project funding from various sources, with expected 
revenue to be at least EUR 105 million, will fully replace 
programme subsidy, which was EUR 84 million in 2010. On the 
basis of current commitments and what is in the pipeline, a 
further increase in the following years is to be expected. The 
average contract size has increased. 

As SNV needs certain margins to cover its costs and maintain 
its global footprint – one of SNV’s biggest assets – we 
unfortunately have to largely disassociate from regular grant 
programmes of traditional donors such as the European Union 
and UNICEF. They require a cost share to participate in their 
programmes and they offer a compensation that is too low to 
cover our (highly reduced) costs.

Prudent financial management of programme resources was a 
high priority in 2012-2015. It resulted in a surplus of EUR 16.5 
million, which will be returned to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
in 2016.

Order Intake and External Revenue (2011-2012)
(EUR millions)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

20152014201320122011

Order intake Revenue

40

71

99

126

155

Although achievements in sustainably improving the quality of 
life of people on the ground – obviously much lower than 
general outreach – did not always follow annual plans, the total 
number for 2012-2015 exceeded forecasts: 16 million people 
(achieved) versus 15 million (planned). This was possible due 
to improved efficiency and revenue from a larger than expected 
order intake.

3.5 million

11.7 million

16 million

7.8 million

Cumulative number of people whose quality of life 
has improved as a result of SNV programmes 
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Accountability within SNV has been improved through the 
introduction of a code of conduct (to be signed by every staff 
member), implementation of a fraud policy with zero tolerance, 
whistle blower procedure, implementation of strict procurement 
policies, and the formulation of authorisation matrices. 

The flexibility of SNV was enhanced by reducing organisational 
complexity: 

• The focus on three sectors (and within those broad 
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sectors on particular products and solutions) instead of 
seven 

• The clear distinction of three roles 
• The reduction of staff functions and management layers 

(removal of regional management)
• The simplification of policies and regulations 
• The elimination of allowing exceptions to policies and 

procedures of SNV

To reduce the vulnerability of (too) high fixed costs in time of 
fluctuating income, the workforce has been flexibilised 
(currently 85% of workforce contracts are of a definite nature 
and tied to the relevant project contracts). Time writing for all 
staff - required to establish the billability of the staff - was 
introduced. The changes in the terms and conditions of staff at 
country and at international level could never have been 
achieved but with the support of both the SNV staff as well as 
the involved trade unions.

The above interventions have made the organisation not only 
more flexible but also more cost-competitive. Operational costs 
at the global level have been reduced from EUR 24 million in 
2011 to EUR 8 million in 2016 (planned). This has allowed SNV 
to invest in activities that are more essential for serving the 
long-term interests of the organisation. The (financial) 
administration has been overhauled and of the country balance 
sheets cleaned up. Even with a changed financial structure, 
unqualified audit opinions were achieved for the transition 
period.

Adapting the labour terms and conditions contributed greatly to 
the positioning of SNV in the short and the long term. Direct 
relations between the GSU and the country teams – instead of 
everything going through a regional management layer- vastly 
decreased transaction costs. This was enhanced by a reduction 
and simplification of administrative rules and regulations. 

The pendulum has swung back slightly with the introduction of 
new corporate policies, mainly to remain in control of processes 
that transcend the sphere of influence of individual countries: 
treasury, foreign exchange, global brand management, global 
donor relations, marketing and business development. 
Although some centralisation – and hence limiting individual 
freedoms – seems unavoidable, we have to remain attentive 
not to revert to the automatic response of installing more 
corporate rules to solve all problems.

The initial idea was for SNV to operate as a fully decentralised 
organisation in which – thanks to new communication 
technologies – location would not play a major role. Even 
though SNV is quite decentralised: its Managing Board is 
spread out over Asia, Africa and Europe and global sector 
teams work from different locations, a certain (re)centralisation 
of functions, mainly HR, Finance and Business Development 
took place, largely for reasons of proximity – fostering mutual 
cooperation, support and increasing consistency- within the 
global team and reduction of costs. 

The introduction of global sector steering – replacing the 
regional management- has worked out very well. Per sector it:

• Supported the articulation of a selected number of global 
products 

• Developed intervention approaches and matched 
international quality standards for staff 

• Allowed for hands-on quality support to country teams
• Realised the ability to coordinate multi-country initiatives, 

customer relations, consistent international profiling and 
interaction with other stakeholders. 

Although it is difficult to assess the quality of our own 
programmes, we consider the fast growing support of the 
international donor community as a positive appreciation of the 
choices we have made and the quality of SNV operations in the 
field.

In 2011, SNV had defined three roles for itself: advisory 
services, evidence based advocacy and knowledge networking. 
Providing advisory services to clients (governments, the private 
sector, and civil society) is by far the main component in SNV’s 
work. Evidence-based advocacy has taken off and we have 
been able to include this role in major programmes. Our field 
experiences formed the basis for the Strategic Partnership 
programme with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 

The third role, knowledge networking – linking with knowledge 
institutes – to feed SNV programme development, and reflect 
on and enhance the quality of our interventions is considered 
very important to augment their value. Yet it has been difficult 
to develop it into a (financially feasible) stand-alone activity of 
sufficient volume. We will therefore strive to integrate 
knowledge networking into new programmes but not continue 
to define it as a specific role of our staff. Simultaneously, we 
have been confronted with both the need for and the possibility 
to scale up (relatively) small projects while adhering to high 
quality standards. This requires specific approaches that we are 
convinced SNV can offer. We have therefore introduced quality 
implementation at scale as our third role for the period 2016-
2018. 

To comply with DGIS requirements, an elaborate planning, 
monitoring and evaluation system was developed and 
implemented. It certainly had its merits for reporting to DGIS 
but it proved not to be very conducive to compliance with the 
requirements of a multitude other donors. SNV will revert to a 
new, more customised reporting system and, to a certain 
extent, to ‘old fashioned’ but proven manual reporting.

The unrestricted DGIS programme subsidy allowed SNV to 
invest in targeted innovations and experiments. Although some 
of these did not pay off directly, for example, the Impact 
Investment Advisory Service did not acquire a position that 
would contribute to achieving the SNV mission and be 
sustainable in the medium term, others achieved their 
objectives. Within the Leadership Enhancement Action 
Programme modules have been developed and tested, of which 
some are now introduced in various other programmes, such as 
the Evidence-based Advocacy Strategic Partnership and the 
Funding Leadership and Opportunities for Women programme. 
The Junior Professional Program trained and provided young 
people from Asia, Africa and the Netherlands with the 
competencies required to continue their career. Investments in 
appropriate, mobile phone technology based tools with AKVO 
seem to pay off and equip projects in and outside SNV with 
new ways of measuring and accounting for results. 
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Unfortunately, SNV will no longer have access to this 
unrestricted funding. As margins on projects are usually razor 
thin, securing unrestricted funding for innovation will be one of 
the biggest challenges SNV will face in the future in order to 
remain an attractive development partner. 

Reflection
In 2011, it quickly became clear that even though SNV was 
faced with a major challenge to find new donors, the real issue 
was not solving the funding problem but reinventing the culture 
of the organisation. To that effect, open communication and 
transparency - both within the organisation and in relation to 
the outside world - provided the basis for realising the 
substantial changes that were required. By making the 
unmentionable, mentionable, it was possible to introduce far 
fetching changes at the level of the organisational culture, the 
organisational set-up and the operational roles. Setting clear 
norms and holding on to them, developing a concise, ambitious 
yet feasible strategy, and vigorously promoting a hands-on, 
can-do mentality that focused on the new, post-2015 reality 
paved the way for SNV. The organisation moved from having a 
culture that was crafted around its main donor, into a more 
flexible, results-driven entity that is value-based yet managed 
as an enterprise. In hindsight, however, it is interesting to note 

that the strategy did not serve as a blueprint. All options for 
alternative routes – no proposal upfront considered 
unacceptable – have always been seriously considered. Yet the 
end product – the make-up of SNV in 2016 – resembles, to a 
considerable extent, the outline in the early plan. 

Taking far fetching, sometimes unpopular, decisions in service 
of enhancing the sustainability of SNV, was greatly facilitated 
by an early show of support by influential Dutch decision 
makers: politically, administratively and lastly also financially. It 
helped the current SNV to capitalise on 50 years of 
international experience and establish itself in the international 
development arena as a recognised, valuable player. Although 
the transition plan as formulated in 2011 has to a large extent 
been accomplished, it does not imply that the change process 
has been completed. There is still ample room for improvement 
of the quality of our work. Therefore, it is fair to expect that 
SNV will (have to) continue to reach out to external partners, 
to reinvent itself and adapt to new requirements, challenges 
and opportunities. And that should not be felt as a burden but 
as a chance to accomplish the professional drive of staff and to 
support those groups in society that do not have all the means 
to realise their ambitions in life.

SNV will continue to reach out to external partners, to reinvent itself 
and adapt to new requirements, challenges and opportunities.



Overview of Sector Development Results
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Agriculture continued to account 
for almost half of our work - 
49% in 2015 - with WASH 
accounting for 29% and 
Renewable Energy 22%.

In 2015, SNV saw a 6.3% decrease 
in primary process days (PPDs) 
compared to 2014, however, impact 
results were higher than planned 
(8.2 million people impacted in 
2015, compared to a target of 7.7 
million). This result can be attributed to 
greater efficiency of our staff and 
operations. 
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In 2015, SNV impacted the lives of 

8.2 million people 
through interventions in Agriculture, Renewable Energy, 
and Water, Sanitation & Hygiene.

1.3 million 
people using an improved 
drinking water source

2.2 million 
people using a  
sanitation facility

1.5 million 
users of renewable  
energy sources

81,000 
people with 
employment

2.1 million 
people with increased 
income

242,000 
people with dietary 
diversity

850,000 
washing hands with 
soap after defecation

71,000 
with increased resiliance 
to climate change

Note: all numbers in table above are rounded
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Agriculture: Results Overview

Sector trends and strategic priorities
Even though we have seen progress in hunger reduction 
globally, chronic household food security remains a challenge. 
It is estimated that around 795 million people are 
undernourished, with the majority living in developing 
countries. Around 500 million smallholder farmers produce 
70% of the world’s food, and it is estimated that agriculture 
accounts for 40% of the world’s employment, with women 
contributing up to 60% of the labour for food production. Yet 
despite their contribution, women continue to be marginalised 
in household decision-making around income and asset 
distribution, and gain few of the benefits of land ownership. 
The real threat of climate change and extreme weather 
conditions, such as floods and droughts, has the greatest 
impact on people who rely on agriculture for their livelihoods.

Progress in tackling these issues was made in 2015, with world 
leaders and the global community at large continuing to set 
agriculture high on the political agenda. This commitment was 
emphasised through the agreement of the Sustainable 
Development Goals, and the adoption by 195 countries of the 
first universal climate agreement at COP21.

Climate smart agriculture has emerged as an important trend 
in agriculture with increased attention from governments, the 
World Economic Forum and the private sector. Many large 
corporations recognise the need to manage climate risks, to 
use resources sustainably, to adopt landscape thinking and to 
realise new business opportunities. There is growing consumer 
and commercial demand for deforestation-free supply chains in 
the oil palm, coffee and cocoa sectors, with a greater 
awareness of the importance to work collaboratively with 
smallholders, and achieve low or zero carbon growth. Global 
companies such as OLAM, Wilmar and ECOM are currently 
working with SNV to increase sustainable and certified 
production, and to ensure supply chains do not contribute to 
deforestation. In addition safe food and the adoption of healthy 
diverse diets have become prominent concerns in developing 
countries, driving research and business investments in new 
production and supply chain solutions.

In 2015, addressing the three key pillars of secure livelihoods 
- income, food and environment - the Agriculture sector worked 
across three interrelated themes: 1. Sustainable Markets, 2. 
Food and Nutrition Security, and 3. Climate Smart Agriculture. 
Inclusion and equality of opportunity for women and youth 
remained an additional and critically important aspect of our 
work.

We improve livelihoods through income, food and climate 
solutions, by assigning each of our four themes a specific 
development objective:

1. Increasing income and employment for smallholder 
farmers.

2. Improving food and nutrition security for all.
3. Strengthening the environmental sustainability of 

agricultural production to meet the challenges of a 
changing climate.

4. Promoting equity in agricultural decisions, entrepreneurship 
opportunities and income and benefit share between 
women and men, and young people.

Our solutions are market-based and leverage public-private 
partnerships, while recognising that systemic change requires 
good governance and improved gender relations. 

We continued to focus on eight commodities in 2015: dairy, 
livestock, rice, cassava, coffee, cocoa, horticulture and oil 
palm. These target commodities are important entry points 
through which we implement our solutions and over the years 
we have established a solid track record in these areas. It is 
where we see global potential to deliver impact at scale for the 
poor, and where we see significant private sector and donor 
interest.

It is with the help of the solutions below that SNV addresses 
the above global challenges: 

Food and Nutrition Security
 Resilient Food Systems
 Sustainable Nutrition 4 All

Sustainable Markets
 Green Value Chains
 Inclusive Business

Climate Smart Agriculture
 Deforestation-free Supply Chains
 Evergreen Farms
 Climate Smart Landscapes

Gender and Youth in Agriculture
 Balancing Benefits
 Opportunities for Youth Employment

SNV delivers consistently high-quality results with our target 
beneficiaries – smallholder farmers, especially women – by 
innovating and scaling-up market-led and climate-smart 
solutions that improve food, nutrition and income. In our view 
agriculture is, and must continue to be, primarily private sector 
and innovation driven, while addressing and adapting to the 
specific challenges faced by those at the bottom of the 
pyramid.

Agriculture Achievements in 2015
2015 was the second full year of implementing the new SNV 
Agriculture Strategy. Agriculture accounted for approximately 
49% of SNV’s total work volume, which included the 
implementation of 147 donor-funded projects in 30 countries.
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Latin AmericaAsiaAfrica

Agriculture 2015 Planned Achieved

Number of people with increased 
income

1,616,469 1,922,123

Number of people who have 
reached dietary diversity

249,513 241,690

Number of people with 
employment

73,305 80,525

Number of people with increased 
resilience to climate change

99,157 71,474

Total 2,038,444 2,315,812

Harmonised Impact
Overall, our aggregated impact indicators show 
that we exceeded our impact targets by 14%.

Performance outcomes Performance outcome indicators Achieved 2015

Supply of appropriate 
agricultural services by client 
(group)s

Number of clients delivering appropriate agricultural services to 
targeted farms and small/medium enterprises (-firms).

4,709 clients

Improved productivity (quality, 
quantity) of farms and firms

Number of client (group)s which have improved productivity of the 
targeted farms and enterprises/ firms

2,753 clients

Application of food securing 
measures by client (group)s.

Number of clients (local organisations or institutions) promoting food 
securing measures

1,825 clients

Agriculture Achievements in 2015
Addressing issues such as food and nutrition; income and 
employment; and gender and youth in a changing climate 
continues to be business imperatives for SNV. These issues 
were reflected in our project portfolio for 2015, where we saw 
an increase in our nutrition-related and climate-related projects 
in a growing number of countries, consistent with international 
trends in the global agriculture sector. For example we are 
piloting a nutrition model in Zambia and Uganda that has 
triggered over 8000 households to adopt diverse diets to date, 
and in Mali we are developing satellite and mobile technology 
applications that support climate adaptation and resilience for 
pastoralist communities. 

Improved performance of client organisations.

Harmonised Outcomes
The graph below demonstrates the improved capacity of the 
client organisations we work with in the Agriculture sector
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Agriculture highlights
Sustainable markets
Building inclusive, sustainable and climate responsive markets 
remains the mainstay of SNV Agriculture, through its Green 
Value Chain and Inclusive Business solutions. In 2015 SNV 
completed the GBP 7 million Vietnam Business Challenge 
Fund (VBCF) project, which started in 2012. The VBCF 
supported companies in Vietnam to develop innovative 
Inclusive Business models delivering both commercial benefits 
and developmental benefits for low income groups, such as job 
creation, income improvement and availability of more 
affordable goods and services. 

The project has provided matching grants and technical 
assistance to 23 companies, created 8,224 jobs, increased the 
income of 167,000 people, and given 4.1 million people access 
to basic goods and services. The project over-delivered on its 
targets and has been widely appreciated by the government, 
companies and donors, including DFID the main funder with 
the VBCF now serving as the model for new private sector 
investments by the Swedish, Australian and Canadian 
governments in Vietnam and elsewhere. SNV is expected to 
play a key role in these new initiatives.

The VBCF provided matching grants and technical assistance to 23 companies, 
created 8,224 jobs, increased the income of 167,000 people.

In Kenya, in partnership with The Embassy of The Kingdom of 
The Netherlands (EKN), SNV is implementing HortIMPACT, a 
market-led horticulture programme that will run for five years, 
with a fund of EUR 6.7 million. It is building a more sustainable 
horticulture sector in Kenya by connecting smallholders to 
private sector expertise and technology to address three 
systemic issues in the market - smallholder inclusion, post-
harvest losses and food safety. The programme works with a 
selection of promising business cases from entrepreneurial 
farmers and organisations, and introduces scalable 
technologies, techniques and market expertise in value chains 
such as potatoes and tomatoes.

Food and Nutrition security 
In Zimbabwe, the Integrated Food, Nutrition and Income 
Security project, in partnership with the European Union, is 
working in communities to improve smallholder production and 
consumption of nutritious foods, and the development and 
implementation of diversified and appropriate value chains. 
Through training in good agricultural practices, climate smart 
technologies, and irrigation farmers are increasing and 

diversifying crop production and small livestock holdings. SNV 
is also mobilising farmers to participate in viable and 
competitive value chains through skills in farm business 
practices, contract management and new market linkages 
between farmers and businesses. To date 17,000 households 
have enhanced their food and nutritional security through 
diversified food and income sources, whilst 15,000 farmers 
have gained access to and utilise structured markets and 
market information.

SNV’s innovative Sustainable Nutrition for All solution is 
currently being piloted in Uganda and Zambia in partnership 
with the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation 
(SDC). This integrated model is unique because it addresses 
behaviour change, supply, governance and gender in one 
approach, to empower communities to reduce the causes of 
malnutrition themselves. The objective of the programme is to 
increase household agro-biodiversity and trigger behaviour 
change at intra-household level through communication 
targeted at the benefits of healthy dietary diversity. It also 
builds capacity among local leaders and district level service 
providers to trigger and maintain demand for intra-household 
dietary diversity at scale, and strengthens national governance 
capacity for dietary diversity and improved nutrition. To date 
the programme has triggered 8,000 households to adopt a 
diverse diet and has set up 80 community-led nutrition hubs. 

Climate smart agriculture
Deforestation and forest degradation result in biodiversity 
losses and are major sources of greenhouse gas emissions. In 
an effort to delink agricultural production from deforestation, a 
growing number of companies and national governments are 
making public commitments to source from supply chains that 
do not cause deforestation. 

SNV’s REDD+ Energy and Agriculture Programme (REAP) 
examined the role of agricultural certification standards in 
effectively halting forest conversion and exploring some of the 
key ingredients which need to be in place in order to establish 
deforestation-free supply chains. Our analysis indicates that 
despite playing an important role in improving the 
environmental and social sustainability of supply chains, 
certification standards present a number of limitations including 
the lack of incentives and support for smallholders and traders 
for participation. However, robust transparent traceability 
systems that demonstrate no deforestation in supply chains are 
essential. Yet currently, most certification schemes do not have 
these in place. 

SNV’s Deforestation-free Supply Chain solution responds to this 
issue and is been successfully piloted for oil palm in Indonesia, 
where we are working with 10.000 smallholder farmers. In 
partnership with Wageningen University in Jambi province, 
Indonesia, SNV is aiming to increase and intensify 
productivity and improve farmer livelihoods without further 
fuelling forest destruction. The project is working to improve oil 
palm farmer livelihoods, and intensify sustainable production 
through good agronomic practices, and the certification of 
2,000 farmers as sustainable producers. It also supports the 
formation of proper farmer organisations to supply extension 
services and inputs.
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In Northern Kenya, climate resilience and adaptation 
strategies are at the core of the EU funded project working with 
pastoralists for Enhanced Community Resilience to Drought 
through Innovative Market Based Systems. These communities 
face extreme weather, mainly droughts, resulting in declining 
pasture productivity and water availability. This puts stress on 
pastoralist economies, leading to livestock losses and inter-
ethnic conflicts. SNV strengthens livestock markets by 
implementing the Co-Management Model, to provide a place for 
pastoralists to sell livestock before a drought, leaving them 
with a smaller herd that can endure drought cycles, and a 
financial buffer. This is a public-private partnership between 
local governments and the Livestock Market Association in 
Kenya. The model has been implemented in 22 markets, where 
sales of 20,000 livestock have been recorded, and generated 
EUR 1.7 million weekly. SNV is also enabling climate resilience 
through increased fodder production with 40 groups to benefit 
the animal health, milk production and household food security. 
Incomes have increased by developing women-led camel milk 
cooperatives and capacitating these with milk handling and 
marketing skills. 

Gender and Youth in Agriculture
There is growing recognition that gender inequality holds back 
progress on all other development outcomes. Evidence 
suggests that development strategies that do not promote 
gender equality and the full participation and empowerment of 
women and girls do not succeed. Even more revealing is the 
recognition that economic growth alone is not enough to 
address gender inequality; the structures that underpin 
inequality must also be addressed. Closing the gender gap in 
agriculture would generate significant gains for the agricultural 
sector, the broader economy and society as a whole. If women 
had the same access to productive resources as men, they 
could increase yields on their farms by 20–30%. SNV’s 
Balancing Benefits solution works with women, men and 
businesses, and empowers women to take active roles and 
ownership of decisions by investing in their business and 
leadership skills, stimulating household dialogues and 
addressing market entry barriers. The Empowerment of Women 
Rice Farmers project in Tanzania, in partnership with Comic 
Relief, worked in 100 villages in six districts, and with 397 
Women Producer Groups to benefit 10,500 people, of which 
6,500 are women.

Global youth unemployment stands at 74 million and is a 
significant challenge further exacerbated by a growing youth 
population. Meanwhile agriculture is a sector characterised by 
an increasingly ageing workforce and as one that young people 
perceive as unrewarding and non-profitable. SNV from the 
beginning of 2015 has been implementing the EU funded Youth 
Employability through Enterprise and Skills Development 
Project (YES) in Uganda, where youth unemployment is 80%. 
The goal is to improve access to employment and business 
opportunities for 5,000 rural and urban youth aged 15-30. This 
will be achieved by providing youth currently in or out of school 
with business skills training and mentorship, internships and 
apprenticeship placements. In particular the project encourages 
enterprise development in growth sectors offering proven 
opportunities for job creation. To date SNV and partners have 

trained 14 higher level institutions to improve their capacity to 
deliver market relevant courses, and a total of 700 youth have 
benefited. In addition these institutions have incorporated 
entrepreneurship training and 500 urban youth have been 
trained in entrepreneurship and life skills. Through the Young 
Model Farmer mentorship approach, the programme has also 
provided agribusiness and transferable skills training for 
youths, and by the end of 2015, 1,000 youth had taken up 
agriculture as a business. 

Knowledge development and research
SNV has further intensified its relationship with research and 
knowledge institutes, often within the framework of public 
private partnerships, recognising the complementary roles 
various actors can play. 

SNV has Memorandum of Understandings (MoUs) with various 
strategic partners on knowledge development and research, 
which include: AgriProFocus, ASARECA, AVRDC, BoP Innovation 
Centre, CIAT, GAIN, ICRAF, IFPRI, ILRI, INBAR, KIT, SUN and 
WUR. These MoU’s are now applied in project practice and 
currently SNV collaborates with a research or knowledge 
partner in a growing number of projects.

Collaboration has contributed to the enhancement of our 
solutions including the nutrition mapping component developed 
with KIT and WUR, the Inclusive Business Accelerator platform 
with BoP Inc and the Agroforestry aspects of our Climate Smart 
Agriculture approach with ICRAF. In partnership with IFPRI 
under the Strategic partnership for Evidenced based advocacy, 
the capacities of civil society organisations will be strengthened 
in six countries to articulate their thoughts and ideas and 
engage in public debate to influence policy changes.

Examples of larger new projects being implemented in 
partnership with research institutes, include the Sustainable 
Integrated Land Management project in Zambia with ICRAF, 
and the dairy project TIDE in Uganda with WUR. 

Innovations and opportunities
Within SNV Agriculture’s themes and solutions, 2015 was a 
successful year in business development with a substantial 
number of new initiatives. These initiatives will impact our 
performance in coming years.

Evergreen farms and climate smart 
landscapes
By 2100 up to 40% of the world’s land surface must adapt to 
altered climates1. And the agricultural sector is both impacted 
by and contributes to climate change - adding 30% to 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

As a response SNV has been working on new solutions to make 
agricultural systems more climate resilient, through the 
promotion of improved and more sustainable production 
practices. 

SNV’s Evergreen Farms solution incorporates a range of 
farming options that make farming more climate resilient, such 
as integrated agroforestry, integrated soil fertility management, 

1 Climate-Smart Food Systems For Enhanced Nutrition – The Global Panel POLICY 

BRIEF No. 2 | September 2015 
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integrated pest management, better water use and smart seed 
and crop management (e.g. conservation agriculture). 

In addition, there has been a growing recognition of the need 
of planning and introducing solutions at the landscape level, in 
order to balance competing land use goals and achieving 
synergies across multiple sectors, including agriculture, 
renewable energy, forests and water. SNV has developed its 
Climate Smart Landscapes approach in order to find common 
solutions across our core sectors of agriculture, energy and 
water, supporting food and nutrition security, ecosystem 
conservation and poverty reduction. 

An example of SNV’s Climate Smart solutions in action is 
under the new Sustainable Integrated Land Management 
Solutions Project (SILMS) in Zambia. SILMS uses a market-
based approach to increase incomes for smallholder farmers 
through the sustainable land management practices of 
integrated soil fertility management, agroforestry and 
deforestation-free supply chains. SNV will apply its 
Deforestation Free Supply Chain approach in the cotton 
landscape to mitigate further deforestation and degradation. 
We will work with processors who are driven by the global 
demand for products that are sustainably sourced, and commit 
to improved production practices.

Climate Business Accelerators
There has been growing interest from donors on the role of 
business to provide Climate Smart Agriculture solutions. This 
provides good opportunities for building on our existing 
offerings around Inclusive Business and merging these with our 
Climate Smart Agriculture offerings. Based on existing project 
experience amongst others of the Inclusive Business 
Accelerator and Climate Innovations Center in Ghana we have 
developed in 2015 a model for Climate Business Accelerators. 

Insights gained
Our work is an iterative process of design, implementation and 
evaluation so that we can better understand how to improve 
and innovate our approaches. Here are some of the insights that 
we gained in SNV Agriculture in 2015. 

Youth: informal, diverse self-employment 
SNV’s Opportunities for Youth projects in Tanzania, 
Mozambique, Rwanda, Niger, Mali, Uganda, Ethiopia and 
Peru works with youth to secure meaningful employment or 
start businesses. 

In 2015 we supported over 300 youth-led enterprises that are 
active, make profits and are registered at local government 
level. They often are not registered as businesses as they have 
not yet achieved the maturity to operate as formal businesses 
and pay taxes. Taking into account the realities of the market 
and the youth ambitions, we accompany these enterprises on 
the path to formal registration, or we just strengthen their 
informal business operations. 

With regard to employment, we work with mentorship 
companies, and are guided by market opportunities as well as 
the ambitions that youth have and the opportunities they seize. 
The majority of these youth engage in self-employment in 
informal markets, yet it means a lot to the youth. 

The OYE life skills training is giving the youth a trigger, not only 
in relation to the opportunity identified, but also in terms of 
reinforcing their ability to seize new and additional 
opportunities in their workforce environment. Diversification, 
even though driven by the need to survive is shown to be a key 
feature and asset among the vast majority of the youth 
enrolled in OYE.

Informed by the experiences in eight youth projects, in 2015 
SNV’s OYE solution recognised the need to evolve further into 
three distinct yet interlinked pathways: workforce development, 
enterprise development and leadership development. Alongside 
this we have included special focus on financial inclusion, digital 
inclusion, gender equity, and the development of a pro-youth 
enabling environment.

Inclusive Business (IB): finances and 
technical assistance
In 2015, SNV worked with over 50 companies to develop 
business cases and support their implementation. The success 
of our cases such as the Vietnam Business Challenge Fund, the 
Inclusive Business Accelerator, the Producer-Public-Private 
Partnership project (4P), and Hortimpact projects in Vietnam, 
Mozambique, Kenya, Uganda, Senegal, Tanzania, El 
Salvador provide evidence that more companies are 
successfully integrating small producers in their supply chains 
and incorporating climate-smart approaches in their production 
and processing operations. This holds true for small companies 
as well as larger ones. 

The underlying driver is always a tangible commercial and 
sustainable benefit, i.e. competitiveness, growth, and/or 
environmental sustainability for both companies and small 
producers. SNV has learnt that it takes both financial support 
as well as technical assistance to make this work. Specialised 
technical assistance is a must and requirements vary, 
including: 

• Identifying the business opportunity
• Tailor-made business modelling and planning
• Supply chain development
• Product prototyping
• Consumer behavioural change
• Distribution channel development
• Investment readiness and matchmaking
• Scaling strategies
• Introduction of sustainability standards

The second aspect relates to the way in which this technical 
assistance is available to aspiring Inclusive Business 
companies. In many countries, financial and technical support 
is disconnected and scattered with business development 
providers having limited knowledge of the low income market. 

There is a clear need for one-stop-shops to meet the needs of 
companies, and SNV’s Inclusive Business Accelerator (IBA) is 
proving to be a successful platform. It provides entrepreneurs 
access to the required knowledge, tools, information, technical 
assistance, coaching and finance they need to implement an 
idea or move proof of concept into scaling. Such platforms have 
proven to be effective catalytic actors in the development of a 
proper local Inclusive Business ecosystem, with global 
outreach, that increases the efficiency of an Inclusive Business 
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operation and maximises the potential of commercial, social 
and environmental returns. 

In 2015 we upgraded our Inclusive Business tools and 
methodologies, established an online Inclusive Business 
database and map, and an online Inclusive Business training 
curriculum. 

New tools contextualise Sustainable Nutrition 
4 All solution
Agriculture’s role in solving under-nutrition is to ensure that all 
people, especially children and pregnant and lactating mothers, 
have access to and consume healthy, diverse diets. 

SNV’s Sustainable Nutrition 4 All solution uses an integrated 
approach involving behaviour change, increased and 
sustainable agro-biodiversity, women’s empowerment, and 
enabling multi-sectoral policy development. In this context, 
SNV in 2015 completed the Nutrition-Sensitive Gender-Aware 
Agriculture Project in Nepal, Indonesia, Cambodia and Laos, 
with a EUR 1 million strategic investment by DGIS. The project 
developed and tested the Nutrition and Gender Sensitive 
Agriculture toolkit jointly with the Royal Tropical Institute. The 
tool facilitates participatory processes to:

• Assess the nutrition, gender and agriculture context
• Understand community perceptions about under-nutrition 

and its probable reasons
• Collectively think through locally appropriate solutions

A related behaviour change methodology, Inspiring Behavioural 
Change in Nutrition, which we developed with Cambodian 
based company 17 Triggers, focuses on the development of 
‘triggers’ that catalyse dietary behaviour change. Behaviour 
change is challenging and triggers are highly contextual, due to 
social and cultural norms. However, this tactic is proving to be 
effective in combination with other interventions. These tools 
are now being used in several nutrition projects: Sustainable 
Nutrition 4 All in Zambia and Uganda, the Cambodian 
Horticulture for Accelerating Income and Nutrition project in 
Cambodia, and the Nutrition Sensitive Agriculture project 
across four countries – Lao PDR, Nepal, Cambodia and 
Indonesia. 

In addition to specific project applications, SNV has combined 
this evidence and research in one solution, Sustainable 
Nutrition 4 All, an approach that integrates behaviour change, 
increased and sustainable agro-biodiversity, women’s 
empowerment, and good governance in one model.

SNV’s Sustainable Nutrition 4 All solution uses an integrated approach 
involving behaviour change, increased and sustainable agro-biodiversity, 
women’s empowerment, and enabling multi-sectoral policy development. 
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Water, Sanitation and Hygiene: Results Overview

Sector trends and strategic priorities 
According to the World Health Organization, one third of the 
world’s population still does not have access to improved 
sanitation, of which an estimated 946 million continue to 
practice open defecation. Sadly, the global Millennium 
Development Goal for sanitation was missed by almost 700 
million people, despite access to safe water and sanitation 
being a basic human right. Moreover, an estimated 663 million 
people do not have access to improved drinking water sources 
and many more again do not have access to a reliable and 
continuous water service in sufficient quantity and acceptable 
quality. Frustratingly, a third of all water schemes previously 
constructed are no longer functional, and hundreds of millions 
of people do not have soap and water to wash their hands.

Overcoming social and/or institutional obstacles, rather than 
singularly focussing on the technical, is key to improving 
accessibility to safe drinking water and sanitation services. 
Though the direct shortage of safe water and adequate 
sanitation facilities and services is an issue, other aspects such 
as inequitable and unjust distribution, and poor operation and 
management further aggravate the situation. 

People without access to safe water and improved sanitation 
often lack the means and influence to change their situation; 
they are generally the poorest and most marginalised groups 
of society. Yet there is progress. But most progress has been 
made by the richest wealth quintiles.

It is vital for public health, wellbeing and economic 
development that we improve access to water and sanitation 
services for every person in the world. Improved practices in 
water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) reduce the risk of 
disease, contribute to the reduction of stunting, and increase 

the productivity and income of millions of people. Furthermore, 
climate change and the rapid growth in world population makes 
people without access to WASH services even more vulnerable.

Governments are the duty bearers for access to safe water and 
sanitation. Water supply and sanitation is a public 
responsibility. Unfortunately, service delivery set-up is often 
weak and fragmented, and minimal service standards are not 
met. The UN-Water Global Analysis and Assessment of 
Sanitation and Drinking-Water report highlights three main 
challenges:

1. Critical gaps in monitoring
2. Weak country capacity to implement plans
3. Insufficient funding to meet the targets

SNV tackles the challenges in WASH by offering the following 
products:

Sustainable Sanitation and Hygiene for All - Rural 
(SSH4A)

Urban Sanitation and Hygiene for Health and 
Development (SSH4A)

WASH in Schools (WIS)

Functionality of Rural Water Supply Services (RWSS)

Urban Water Supply Services (WSST)

WASH Achievements in 2015
In both use of an improved water source and use of improved 
sanitation facilities, forecasts were substantially over-achieved. 
For drinking water, almost 200,000 beneficiaries above forecast 
were recorded, with the increase due primarily to successful 
adoption of post-construction support and a tighter, more 
successful focus on rehabilitation of schemes. In sanitation 
excellent results were posted with fewer people than forecast 
opting for ‘unimproved’ (basic) toilets, and many more than 
forecast moving directly up the sanitation ladder to ‘improved’ 
toilets. Outstanding results for handwashing were largely 
attributable to success in the DFID-funded results based 
programme. 
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Other 

WSST

WIS

SSH4A

RWSS

Latin AmericaAsiaAfrica

WASH 2015 Planned Achieved

Number of people using an 
improved drinking water source

1,064,000  1,261,000*

Number of people using an 
‘improved ’ sanitation facility

506,000 1,097,000**†

Number of people using an 
‘unimproved’ sanitation facility

2,084,000  1,085,000**

Number of people practicing 
hand washing with soap after 
defecation

251,000  850,000

Total 3,905,000 4,293,000

Harmonised Impact
The table below shows the number of people 
that have been impacted compared to the 
planning.

Performance outcomes Performance outcome indicators Achieved 2015

Local governments are steering 
sanitation demand

Number of local governments that have initiated steering of sanitation 
demand creation activities – Sustainable Sanitation and Hygiene for All 
(SSH4A)

1132 local 
governments

Increased outreach of post 
construction support services provided 
to rural water supply operators (Water 
User Groups or private operators)

Number of rural water supply operators (Water user Groups or private 
operators) who are using post-construction support services - 
Functionality of Rural Water Supply Services (FRWSS)

1789 rural 
water supply 
operators

Water utilities in peri-urban and small 
towns have increased operation and 
maintenance cost recovery

Number of water utilities in peri-urban and small towns that have 
increased operation and maintenance cost recovery according to 
national standards – Sustainable water supply services in small towns 
and peri-urban areas (WSST)

146 water 
utilities

Schools are capable of maintaining 
sanitation and hygiene facilities 
successfully

Number of schools having a school-based maintenance plan for 
sanitation and hygiene – WASH in schools (WIS)

1336 schools

Improved supply of services Number of clients who are supplying improved services 4414 clients

WASH Achievements in 2015
As is evident in the graph below, we implemented 60 projects 
in the WASH sector in 2015.

The table below shows the improved performance of client organisations.

Harmonised Outcomes
The graph below demonstrates the improved capacity of the 
client organisations we work with in the WASH sector

13 3 0

7 0 0

10 0 0

14 8 2

1 2 0

† Including 165,000 with safe faecal sludge management 
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* Higher achievement due primarily to successful adoption of post-construction support and a 
tighter, more successful focus on rehabilitation of schemes.
** In sanitation excellent results were posted with fewer people than forecast opting for   
‘unimproved’ (basic) toilets, and many more than forecast moving directly up the sanitation ladder 
to ‘improved’ toilets.
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WASH highlights 
Sustainable Sanitation and Hygiene for All 
(SSH4A) Results
In April 2014, SNV commenced implementation of the DFID 
funded Sustainable Sanitation and Hygiene for All (SSH4A) 
Results programme; a EUR 28 million rural sanitation project 
across nine countries, using a 100% results–based funding 
(RBF) mechanism. The programme is being rolled out in 
Zambia, Mozambique, Ethiopia, Ghana, Tanzania, Kenya, 
South Sudan, Uganda, and Nepal and aims to improve the 
sanitation and hygiene situation for 4.8 million people. The 
project runs for four years, with the majority of results to be 
achieved in the first 18 months. 

Central tenets of the programme are:

• The building of local capacity to steer and implement 
high-quality sanitation demand creation at scale; 

• The development of market-based solutions to improve 
access to affordable sanitation hardware and services 
(including sanitation marketing, supply chain 
development, and inclusive business); 

• Building capacity for innovative hygiene behavioural 
change communication around hand-washing with soap; 
ensuring local sector alignment, planning and monitoring; 

• Enhancing understanding of the sanitation needs and 
preferences of vulnerable groups (ultra-poor, the elderly 
and disabled), anchoring of post-open defecation free 
targets.

In 2015, SNV successfully met the planned targets as validated 
by DFID, with 2.1 million people gaining new access to 
sanitation, and 6.1 million people reached with hygiene 
promotion. Furthermore, the project supported the elaboration 
of 61 multi-stakeholder district sanitation plans and is now 
monitoring the environmental safety of toilets (ground and 
surface water contamination), and age of toilets against wealth 
quintiles.

In addition to the DFID funded SSH4A Results programme, SNV 
implemented SSH4A programmes in Nepal, Bhutan, 
Cambodia and Indonesia. In Cambodia, the first district ever 
– Banteay Meas – was declared open-defecation free, in 
December 2015. SNV has been implementing the district-wide 
SSH4A approach in Banteay Meas since 2012. 

In 2015, through the SSSH4A Results programme, 2.1 million people gained new 
access to sanitation, and 6.1 million people were reached with hygiene promotion. 

Functionality of Rural Water Supply Services
Solid progress was made in Nepal in further developing the 
Functionality of Rural Water Supply Services programme. The 
project covers four districts in the Mid-Western region. 

Through a newly simplified and institutionalised district 
functionality mapping process, (where mapping became a 
regular task of the responsible government agency in the 
district) new data showed that the percentage of fully 
functional water schemes ranged from 8-56%. Some 43-79% 
of schemes were completely non-functional. 

In 2015 participatory self-assessments were introduced for 
water user committees in a bid to provide better quality 
information that could be used to advocate for fairer decision 
making in the allocation of scheme rehabilitation and targeted 
post construction support. These self-assessments feed into 
district functionality plans, where a priority ranking of schemes 
- based on need as well as good governance and local 
management progress – is completed. 

The aim is to transform perverse incentives in rural water 
supply (where the worst managed systems receive most 
investment), and promote investment based on well-
functioning local water users committees. The innovation of 
self-assessments is now being discussed at the national level in 
Nepal as part of the new national one WASH plan. 

Kenya Market Assistance Programme
In Kenya, where 70% of the population depend for their 
drinking water on wells, rivers, streams, ponds, and sand 
dams – and where almost one third of these systems are 
non-functional at any given time - SNV was asked to design 
and demonstrate the potential public/private/community 
partnership model as part of the Kenya Market Assistance 
Programme. 

Key to this work was demonstration of the role private 
enterprises can play in ensuring sustainability of rural water 
services. Working with the Lake Victoria North and South 
Water Services Boards using a Markets for the Poor approach, 
a framework for public–private-community partnership was 
introduced. 

Early results have been promising with 91,000 people across 
seven water systems covered by the two Water Services Boards 
benefiting from improved water services by private operators 
under the PPCP contracts. The scope to take the model 
nationwide is significant, with the potential to benefit millions 
of poor men and women in rural areas of Kenya.

Knowledge development and research 
SNV uses knowledge development and learning within the 
WASH sector to both improve our field practice (leading to 
greater impact) and to contribute to the global discourse on 
sector development (policy and thought influencing). The key 
component of SNV’s knowledge efforts in the WASH sector 
centres on our global Communities of Practice. 

The Communities of Practice use D-group platforms for global 
debate and discussion, coupled with learning events for 
practical application. We currently run seven Communities of 
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Practice in WASH, namely: 

• Rural Sanitation and Hygiene
• Functionality of Rural Water Supply
• Urban Sanitation and Hygiene
• Menstrual Hygiene Management in Schools
• Behavioural Change Communication for WASH
• Re-use and Ecosan in Rural Settings
• Assainissement et Hygiène Durables pour Tous

D-group discussions are carefully moderated to ensure both 
practitioners and policy level opinions are included. In total, 
there are 1535 people from 56 countries participating in the 
Communities of Practice. Participants include many of SNV’s 
partners, SNV staff, other local organisations, government 
employees, and an increasing number of global organisations, 
such as staff from ADB, WSP, USAID, EAWAG, BMGF, WaterAid 
and UNICEF. 

In total, there are 1535 WASH professionals 

from 56 countries participating in the 

Communities of Practice.

In 2015, SNV conducted five learning events. Exchange 
between African and Asian countries increased substantially 
this year. In 2015, learning events focussed on Behavioural 
Change Communication (held in Bhutan), Rural Sanitation and 
Hygiene (held in Kenya), Rural Water Supply and Sanitation 
(held in Nepal), Urban Water Supply and Sanitation (held in 
Kenya) and Urban Sanitation and Hygiene (held in Manila). In 
total over 250 people participated in these learning events, 
with each event preceded by a preparatory D-group discussion. 
In addition, two independent global discussions were conducted 
on Menstrual Hygiene Management and Sludge Transfer 
Stations respectively. 

SNV staff presented at several international events in 2015, 
including World Water Week in Stockholm, the 38th WEDC 
conference in Loughborough, and the UNC Health Conference 
(Carolina) presenting on topics including occupational health 
and safety of emptiers in Bangladesh, faecal sludge re-use, 
Results-Based Financing (RBF), hygiene effectiveness, and 
functional rural water services.

Collaboration with the following organisations and institutes 
was intensified in 2015: SuSanA (and in particular the urban 
sanitation working group thereof, led by GIZ and EAWAG), 
Emory University, the Institute for Sustainable Futures 
(University of Technology, Sydney), and Sanitation and Water 
for All.

Innovations and Opportunities
In 2013-2014, we commenced an action research project in 
Tanzania, Ethiopia and Kenya aimed at developing better 
market-based solutions for sanitation. In a collaboration 
between SNV and technical vocational training institutes in 
each country, two new models of latrines were developed: the 
Dry-off-set latrine, and the Wet-off-set latrine. The name ‘SAFI 
latrine’ was adopted, with SAFI meaning ‘clean’ in Swahili, and 
in 2015 the SAFI latrine was disseminated further to 
Mozambique, Ghana, Zambia and South Sudan. 

The business and sales model for SAFI was further developed 
and externally reviewed in 2015. Though SAFI latrines were 
moving, sales were not expanding as fast as expected and the 
willingness of the private sector to take risk was low. Feedback 
from the external review found that the product was desirable, 
affordable, and virtually competition-free, but that the big 
constraint was in fact the sales strategy itself. The strategy 
being used was one better suited to fast moving consumer 
products, rather than larger household improvement 
investments. The sales strategy and tools are now being 
overhauled to better align with an incentive structure. In 
Kenya, associations of SAFI entrepreneurs have been 
developed. These associations are formally registered as 
savings and credit organisations, with pooled resources for 
construction, delivery and investment capital. There are now 12 
such associations operating in Kenya. 

In a collaboration between SNV and technical vocational training institutes, two new 
models of latrines were developed: the Dry-off-set latrine, and the Wet-off-set 
latrine. 

In urban sanitation and hygiene, a rapid assessment tool to set 
up scheduled desludging in built up areas was designed and 
fine-tuned. The tool has now been applied in towns in 
Indonesia, Bangladesh and Nepal. With data now available, 
new business models and revenue structures for emptying have 
been designed for these towns, reducing the costs of emptying 
by 20% and reaching many more customers. A framework to 
assess the uptake of services by households in the poorest 
wealth quintiles is now being designed as part of the model.

In Bolivia, we used our experiences and methods in 
ethnography to implement an urban sanitation study in the city 
of Santa Cruz. We also supported broader learning and 
knowledge management in sanitation in the country through 
our leadership on the EcoSanRes (ecological sanitation) 
knowledge node.

Building on the collaboration with Akvo established in previous 
years, SNV further strengthened its use of a standardised 
mobile phone application, FLOW, for household surveys in both 
rural and urban sanitation programmes. This application is now 
being used in 15 countries across Asia and Africa, providing 
an unprecedented quality of data. In addition to the usual 
coverage type information, data is now available by wealth 
quintile, gender and disability. Such information is proving 
crucial in informing decision making for targeted interventions 
and in efforts to identify and reach the unreached. 
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Wealth disaggregated data is proving crucial in 

advocating for targeted interventions that 

reach the poorest and unreached.

In addition to the use of FLOW for sanitation programmes, it 
was also used in water projects. In Mali, together with the 
Malian Government, SNV and Akvo secured funding for a 
national water point mapping exercise using FLOW. In Uganda 
and Zambia FLOW data was used to develop water supply 
rehabilitation plans. In Benin, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Mali, 
Kenya, Mozambique, Tanzania, and Laos it was used to 
monitor changes in functionality rates of water schemes after 
O&M structures and systems had been modified. 

Work on the Akvo/SNV open source water testing kit, 
Caddisfly, intensified with pilot testing in Burkina Faso and 
Kenya. Caddisfly uses an Android app, combined with simple, 
inexpensive hardware to test water quality (fluoride, 
temperature, pH, EC parameters). It automates existing field 
tests by reading colour change using a smartphone’s camera 
and flash, making results more reliable and accurate. Data 
from the test kit can be made available online, geo located, and 
in real time. 

Caddisfly uses an Android app, combined with simple, inexpensive hardware to test 
water quality.

Similar piloting was completed for a new water level 
monitoring sensor technology application. Various water 
service providers have shown interest in the sensor for 
measuring water level fluctuations in the production of wells. 
Interestingly, the sensor technology can also be applied on a 
larger (geographical) scale to monitor water levels in relation to 
climate change. Both pilots were successfully finalised, with 
plans for application at lager scale in 2016 with both the 
private sector and government authorities. 

Insights Gained
2015 marked the second year of implementation for SNV in the 
large-scale DFID results-based programme. In addition to 
insights gained in 2014 regarding results-based funding 
mechanisms, further insights were gained regarding the 
differing roles of supplier, verifier and donor, and the specifics 
of verification cycles. Lessons were learned around how to 
better assess and manage risk. This year two of the nine 
countries involved experienced major disruptions (Nepal due to 
earthquake and South Sudan due to internal unrest) 
highlighting the need for balance in results-based funding 
projects between traditionally ‘higher performing countries’ and 
those with more ‘difficult contexts’. 

In 2015, we started to gather examples and gain insights into 
the use of smart enforcement tools to improve local 
governance in urban sanitation. Sustainable and inclusive 
urban sanitation services in cities depend on the capacity of 
local governments to ensure compliance with minimum 
standards and key regulations regarding urban wastewater. 
This includes building codes, regulations around landlord 
responsibilities, discharge norms, and health & safety 
standards. Unfortunately, non-compliance is the accepted 
status quo in many cities, and few organisations have dared to 
touch upon this fundamental issue of good governance. With 
the support of the Institute for Sustainable Futures (University 
of Technology, Sydney) SNV identified examples from other 
sectors on regulatory, voluntary and market-based instruments 
that could be applied in the urban context of developing 
countries. The development of a tool for local smart 
enforcement strategies is now under construction. The first 
draft of this tool was tested during an urban sanitation learning 
event in Manila where teams and partners from eight countries 
were present: Mali, Zambia, Zimbabwe Kenya, Nepal, 
Bhutan, Indonesia and Bangladesh. The tool received 
overwhelming interest and high demand from all teams in 
attendance.

Several insights were gained in 2015 regarding private sector 
involvement in rural and urban water supply services. In 
Ethiopia, we saw that despite the potential for commercial 
maintenance and spare part supply service provision in all 
project districts, engaging private local service providers is not 
easy. Entrepreneurial flair and realistic longer-term 
expectations regarding financial returns were common traits 
amongst successful private local service providers. In Kenya, 
private operators managing rural water systems were found to 
be an effective model for improving functionality of rural water 
systems. Crucial to the success however is government 
investment in capital rehabilitation work to ensure that private 
operators can make adequate revenue to cover operational 
expenses.
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An estimated 663 million people do not have access to improved drinking 
water sources and many more again do not have access to a reliable and 
continuous water service of sufficient quantity and acceptable quality. 
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Renewable Energy: Results Overview

Sector trends and strategic priorities 
According to the World Health Organization, nearly 3 billion 
low-income people still rely on unsustainable wood, coal, 
charcoal or undigested animal waste for cooking and heating; 
1.1 billion people lack access to modern electricity. Access to 
clean, affordable energy is still an obstacle for many people, 
however, things are changing. With the adoption in 2015 of 
“access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy 
for all” as goal number seven of the Sustainable Development 
Goals and the achievement of a landmark climate change deal 
at the Paris Climate Conference (COP 21), renewable energy is 
now at the centre of the international development agenda. 

Sustainable energy not only safeguards the future of the world; 
it can also save millions of lives every year by avoiding 
premature deaths from polluting indoor cook stoves. While 
urban electrification is progressing rapidly, universal clean 
cooking still has a long way to go. 

4.3 million people, mostly women and children, 

die every year due to cooking on open fires 

and 110 million disability-adjusted life years 

are lost due to deaths and respiratory 

diseases.

It is encouraging that an increasing number of developing 
countries have adopted renewable energy policies, regulations 
and targets, providing an enabling sector environment. 
Moreover, the cost of solar PV continued to fall in 2015, making 

renewable energy often the cheapest option for low-income 
households and offering new economic opportunities, especially 
for women and youth in retail and instalment.

Climate change has become a defining issue of our time. Each 
year the cost of climate related disasters, such as extreme 
weather and flooding, is increasing, and millions of people, in 
particular the poorest, are affected. SNV has aligned with these 
developments to respond to climate change and support the 
millions of households affected by it. SNV provides global best 
practice as well as innovative approaches to deliver on the twin 
aims of increasing access to energy and lower emissions 
through a more sustainable use of sustainable energy sources.

In 2015, SNV tackled the above challenges by offering the 
following products:

Domestic biogas

Medium size biogas plants for productive use

Domestic improved cookstoves and efficient, 
sustainable fuels

Stoves and gasifiers for productive use

Domestic photo voltaic lanterns and solar home 
systems

Productive use of solar power

Renewable Energy Achievements in 2015 
Through SNV projects, households acquired access to off grid 
Renewable Energy Technologies (RET), from which women 
benefit disproportionally. Entrepreneurs participated in RET 
market development, resulting in additional income and jobs, 
in particular for youth and women. One example of this is an 
Asian Development Bank funded gender project, which covers 
three countries in the Mekong region. The project promotes 
employment of female masons and female cookstoves 
producers. 

In response to climate change, SNV supports projects that 
increase climate resilience and reduce carbon emissions. 

Through successful market development for improved cook 
stoves, solar PV lamps and solar home systems, our impact 
increased substantially in 2015 compared to 2014 (1,475,329 
people gained access to clean and affordable energy in 2015 vs 
895,000 in 2014). 

Almost 1.5 million people gained access to 

clean affordable energy in 2015

In addition to the 1.5 million people who gained access to clean 
affordable energy, more than 2.8 million people benefited from 
affordable, energy-efficient LED bulbs through SNV’s Vietnam 
Business Challenge Fund project.

Through successful market development for improved cook stoves, solar PV lamps 
and solar home systems, our impact increased substantially in 2015 compared to 
2014.
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Renewable Energy 2015 Planned Achieved

Number of additional users of 
renewable energy sources

1,734,834 1,475,329

Number of people with 
increased income

49,208 140,839

Number of additional jobs 244 2,541

Total 1,784,286 1,618,709

Total number of tons of 
greenhouse gas emissions 
reduced

2,060,930

Harmonised Impact
The table below shows impact achieved 
compared to planned impact.

Performance outcomes Performance outcome indicators Planned 2015 Achieved 2015

Improved performance by client 
groups

Number of RE clients (client-groups) who are 
supplying improved services

633 1,844

Number of RE technologies (RETs) installed and/or 
sold, per year

322,356

Renewable Energy Achievements in 2015 
SNV implemented 95 projects in the energy sector in 2015 in 
26 countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America. 

The table below shows the improved performance of client organisations.

Harmonised Outcomes
The graph below demonstrates the improved capacity of the 
client organisations we work with in the energy sector.
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Enabling environment outcome Enabling environment intervention outcome indicator Planned 2015 Achieved 2015

Improved enabling environment Energy Laws, policies, rules and regulations have become 
more pro-poor / inclusive

29 45

The difference between the planned and achieved number of clients that benefited from performance improvement activities is 
due to a higher than anticipated number of SMEs in some projects and the increased capacity building of LCBs, initially involved 
as service providers only.

The table below demonstrates the improved enabling environment resulting from SNV interventions.

Deliver 
development 

results

Balance 
coherence 

and felxibility

Adapt and 
renew

Act and 
commit

Relate

Improved 
capacity

Total Improved capacity to:0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

557634

878843

2316

2600

1571



30   SNV Corporate Annual Report 2015

Renewable Energy highlights
Biogas 
In 2015, an additional 134,500 people have access to energy 
and other benefits from the installation of 25,000 new biogas 
plants, through SNV programmes, however, growth was slower 
than expected.

The Africa Biogas Partnership Programme (ABPP) in Ethiopia, 
Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania and Burkina Faso supported by 
DGIS and implemented with HIVOS did not reach its production 
targets. This slower growth can be attributed to the fact that 
changing to a private-sector-led approach took a more 
substantive turn-around than anticipated. A stronger increase 
in demand was expected as a result of reduced costs of biogas 
plants, mason business training and the creation of Client 
Service Centres, but usually the effect of these measures takes 
time. Moreover, the relationship with national implementing 
partners in Kenya and Uganda was terminated because of 
under performance of these entities, and a new implementation 
structure had to be developed. Other setbacks were the 
changes in the market conditions in Tanzania, where a 
federation of 25,000 farmers disengaged from coffee company 
and partner (ECOM) and was no longer eligible for subsidised 
biogas, and delayed development of biogas credit products in 
Uganda. However, in Uganda we can see an upward trend; 
there is an increase in the appreciation and use of bioslurry as 
a result of marketing efforts, which highlight the multiple 
benefits of biogas plants.

Hivos and SNV were successful in applying for EnDev support 
of EUR 3.6 million for a result based finance project on quality 
and access to finance in three ABPP countries (Kenya, Uganda 
and Tanzania). This project will provide two different 
incentives, one to stimulate the availability of affordable credit 
for end-users and another one to stimulate after-sales service 
and customer care. 

In December 2015, the Bhutan biogas project celebrated the 
installation of its 2,000th biogas plant. Not less than 98.7% of 
the biogas plants in Bhutan are working, which is exceptionally 
high. Research and development is ongoing with the 
construction of innovative high altitude biogas plants. The Asian 
Development Bank is satisfied with progress and approved an 
extension of the project. 

A mid-term review of the biogas programme in Nicaragua by 
the Inter-American Development Bank resulted in a project 
extension, with a production target reduction of 50% as 
demand proved to be far less than originally planned. The 
project will now also embark on medium-sized biogas plant 
production. 

A market study was conducted as part of the biogas milk-
chilling project, implemented with SIMGAS, Mueller and BoP 
Inc in Tanzania, Kenya and Zambia. Results of the market 
assessment and prototype testing in four pilots were reported 
with high quality data. These demonstrated that customer 
groups have different value propositions for the same biogas 
milk-chilling product, requiring the development of different 
business models. The study helped to profile SNV and to 
generate interest of new partners such as OFID, EEP and 

USAID's Powering Agriculture, assuring continuation of the 
programme after 2015. In Zambia, a SIDA funded biogas milk 
chilling programme started with biogas plant production in 
2015. A documentary for promotion of biogas, featuring three 
farmers explaining the multiple benefits was televised six times 
by four different TV stations after enormous requests by 
farmers to retransmit it, resulting in almost seven million 
viewers in the country. 

In the Vietnam biogas programme, 11,400 plants were built 
with results based finance incentives, benefiting around 57,000 
people. A monitoring tool using mobile phone technology 
developed by AKVO was adapted for use in biogas and piloted 
in three provinces. Gold Standard carbon credits were issued 
for around 880,000 tons of reduced carbon emissions. Part of 
the credits were sold but most of the related revenues 
remained in a bank account as the government of Vietnam 
wanted to first develop a mechanism on the use of such 
revenues.

As result of an Asian Development Bank funded gender and 
climate project, female biogas mason companies have been 
established, which is unique in Vietnam. SNV provided 
additional, effective training and individual coaching of female 
masons to make this happen. In 2015, SNV’s work on this 
project was selected as one of the four finalists for the 
prestigious Zayed future energy prize, for which 1400 
organisations applied. 

Clean cooking with improved stove
SNV’s increased its impact with improved and clean cookstoves 
by developing markets through enhanced demand, supply, 
finance, quality assurance and the creation of an enabling 
governance environment. In 2015, almost 700,000 people, 
mostly women benefited from the purchase of over 130,000 
clean and improved stoves. These provide smoke-free and 
environment-friendly cooking, with health benefits, time saving 
and reduced fuel costs. Clean cooking solutions help to combat 
deforestation and mitigate climate change effects. As part of a 
broader vision on achievement of climate change results in 
Ghana, Burkina Faso and DRC, alternative, efficient fuels 
and wood fuel plantations are part of our clean cooking 
projects.

Over 130,000 improved stoves sold in 2015, 

which reduced the health hazards and helped 

to mitigate effects of climate change

In Lao PDR, 46,000 stoves were produced by 20 
manufacturers and sold by over 750 retailers. The stoves 
benefited over 190,000 users, exceeding the annual target of 
30,000 stoves by 50%. Through capacity development with 
a methodology that addressed specific gender barriers, the 
Lao Disabled Women Centre became accredited as a qualified 
producer of improved cookstoves. An impact evaluation showed 
that 10% of Laotian households now have improved cookstoves 
in their kitchen. 
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In Lao PDR, 46,000 stoves were produced in 2015 by 20 producers and sold by over 
750 retailers, benefiting more than 190,000 users.

Urban energy 
In Maputo, capital of Mozambique, the Endev funded 
improved stoves project helped to open the market for 
cookstoves, with expansion to other cities in the country. In 
2015, more than 17,000 cookstoves were sold, and capacities 
of four production-, distribution- and sales companies were 
strengthened. In DRC’s capital, Kinshasa, SNV developed a 
previously non-existing market for improved cookstoves: 8,000 
stoves (benefitting more than 41,000 users) were sold by more 
than 100 retailers, supported with credit by two microfinance 
institutions. A national alliance for clean cookstoves was 
established in 2015 with support by SNV. Moreover, sustainable 
charcoal was produced by 10 cooperatives of 350 charcoal 
producers, supplying Kinshasa from rural areas. A standard for 
sustainable charcoal production was adopted by the 
cooperatives and the Kinshasa Provincial Governor signed a 
new order regulating the tax regime for charcoal production 
and sales, formalising the wood-fuel value chain, with provision 
of improved working conditions for charcoal producers and 
encouragement of green practices. 

Cookstoves with carbon finance
In 2015, SNV in Nepal became recognised by partners and 
donors for our strong contributions to and impact in very 
remote and poor parts of the country. By the end of 2015, 
production of stoves by the private sector increased 
tremendously, making this a commercially viable venture. Over 
60,000 improved cookstoves were sold over three years, 
enabling access to clean cooking solutions to more than 
330,000 people. The energy company, Eneco, will purchase the 
generated carbon credits.

Access to modern lighting
In 2015, SNV implemented 16 projects for access to solar 
lighting and telephone charging in 13 countries, contributing to 
the distribution, sales and adoption of 160,000 portable lanterns 
and solar home systems, providing energy access to 600,000 
people.

In Zimbabwe, 66,000 solar lamps and solar home systems 
were marketed through a network of international and national 
suppliers. To that effect 500 rural retailers and 370 youth 
entrepreneurs (of which 260 are women) were trained in basic 
solar technologies and marketing. The project resulted in 
230,000 people with access to Pico solar PV lighting.

The core funded solar programme in Burkina Faso, Uganda 
and DRC triggered sale of more than 27,000 solar lamps in 
2015 through 10 distribution channels and by establishing 
partnerships with private companies. 

In Benin, SNV worked in partnership with the country’s largest 
mobile phone company, MTN, to empower a network of 70 
Village Micro Entrepreneurs, who sold 12,000 solar products in 
26 villages, and offered solar mobile phone charging to more 
than 500,000 clients.

SNV, with financial support from the French Development 
Agency, has worked on the development of the nascent 
Cambodian solar sector that started to sell solar installations 
with loan disbursements. A solar supplier accreditation and 
results based finance scheme has been designed and is now 
rolled out.

Distribution and adoption of solar lights and 

home systems provided energy access for 

600,000 people

In 2015, SNV implemented 16 projects which contributed to the distribution, sales 
and adoption of 160,000 portable lanterns and solar home systems, providing 
energy access to 600,000 people.

Renewable energy powers agro processing 
businesses 
The Energy, Poverty, and Gender in Agro-processing Project 
(EPGAP) distributed 2,400 energy efficient appliances in 
Burkina Faso, Ghana, Mali and Niger for rice parboiling, 
shea butter production and beer brewing. Charcoal briquetting 
machines (shea waste, rice husk) and industrial shea oil 
expellers were developed in Ghana. In Mali, solar driers for fruit 
& vegetables, grains and meat & fish processing became 
operational. Around 6,000 women are benefitting from these 
renewable energy sources and energy efficient appliances to 
enhance their income-generating activities. With more than 
20,000 tons of firewood preserved and more than 30,000 tons 
of GHG emissions saved, this project contributed to climate 
change mitigation and to livelihood improvement of the 
women. A regional market and business model study 
recommended improvements for a next phase of programme 
activities. 
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Tools for Reducing deforestation and forest 
degradation 
The siting tool for landscape planning developed in 2014 was 
used in establishing a palm oil fuel and minigrids project in 
DRC. The sustainable woodfuel value chain development 
solution developed by SNV has been applied in sustainable 
charcoal market and policy development in DRC, as well as in 
the design of the biomass Nationally Appropriate Mitigation 
Action Plan support project in Burkina Faso.

In Ghana, reduced deforestation and degradation of mangrove 
forests has been achieved through the establishment of 9.5 
hectares of woodlot plantation for fish smoking, 7 hectares of 
restored mangrove plantation and conservation of 20 hectares 
of mangrove plantation. A total of 280 improved fish smoking 
stoves were distributed in fishing communities, resulting in less 
use of biomass and less smoke exposure.

In the Vietnam and Lao PDR, SNV contributed to a new 
national forest policy and to national forest certification 
standards, and capacities in sustainable forest management. 
The Lowering Emissions in Asia's Forests Programme in 
Vietnam, financed by USAID, avoided an estimated 1.3 million 
tons of GHG emissions through reduced deforestation and 
forest degradation.

Knowledge development and Research
Subsidy as an incentive to invest in biogas 
technology
In Cameroon, the effect of subsidy levels on biogas technology 
uptake was investigated by Wageningen University. It was 
found that factors other than subsidy appear to be more 
decisive for investment decisions by farmers, including 
technology, reputation, trust, marketing techniques and the 
availability of finance. For early adopters, however, a subsidy of 
25% of the plant costs appears to be necessary.

Comparing advantages of biogas technologies 
In follow-up to an impact study in Rwanda conducted by IOB, 
SNV and the Universities of Rwanda and of Murdoch (Australia) 
conducted a study on the performance of Chinese pre-
fabricated fibreglass biodigesters, the classic fixed dome 
masonry types of biodigesters and the recently introduced 
“flexi-plastic” bag (Flexbag) biodigesters. 

The study found that the fixed dome biodigester has many 
advantages over the alternatives, such as gas production and 
firewood savings, the fibreglass structures were less sensitive 
to ambient temperature fluctuations but had the highest repair 
costs, and the Flexbag biodigesters were most economical but 
operational performance is lower. It was concluded that 
promotion of the classic fixed dome biodigester is justified 
when households can afford them, and the Flexbag biodigesters 
are an alternative for households with less purchasing power.

Health benefits of cookstoves
One way to improve the financial viability and level of 
investment in clean cooking intervention programmes is to 
verify and monetise the health benefits for women and 
children. 

In Lao PDR and Cambodia, SNV co-developed a standardised 
methodology to determine health benefits from clean cooking 
interventions through estimating premature averted death and 
disability through Averted Disability-Adjusted Life Years 
(ADALYs). One ADALY can be thought of as one lost year of 
'healthy' life being averted.

Research involved the World Bank, the University of California, 
Berkeley Air Monitoring Group, C-Quest Capital and SNV. The 
studies demonstrated that the selected ACE1 stove and biogas 
stove reduce indoor air pollution considerably. This can lead to 
positive health outcomes and the generation of 0.03 ADALYS 
per stove in three years’ time. 

In Cambodia, the study demonstrated better results in urban 
areas with more households cooking indoors than in rural 
areas, while best results were obtained with rural biogas. 
Bringing ADALYs to market can provide a significant funding 
stream for clean cooking interventions. 

In Kenya and Cambodia, SNV commissioned a randomised 
control trial on the impact of health awareness campaigns on 
customers purchase behaviour of improved cookstoves. The 
results of the studies were not conclusive, yet provided 
valuable insights in behavioural change communication, which 
can be applied in SNV projects. Costs and fuel savings of stoves 
are much more a driver than health. Marketing skills of sales 
agents that mix health with other factors to influence 
purchasing behaviour play a decisive role.

Tools for gender analysis and planning in the 
renewable energy sector
With ENERGIA, the international network on gender and 
sustainable energy, we developed and tested tools for analysis, 
design and planning of gender in SNV renewable energy 
projects. The tools are available for use by SNV staff during 
project design and review.

Innovations and opportunities
2015 was a particularly successful year in SNV for solar PV 
market development. Result based finance incentives and 
end-user and supplier financial products were developed with 
financial institutions. Mobile phone technology and distribution 
channels were bundled with supply of solar lamps. The 
hardware and software for what is expected to become a 
financially viable and sustainable decentralised solar powered 
rural electrification network were developed. 

A partnership was established with GSMA, the global 
association of mobile phone companies. GSMA is funding SNV’s 
programme for solar lamp distribution and phone charging in 
rural areas in Benin, which SNV implements with the largest 
mobile phone company in Benin, MTN. Partnerships with both 
mobile phone and solar companies are a way to fast track solar 
PV distribution, which SNV intends to implement in other 
countries. 

In Zimbabwe, with funding from OFID and the EU, SNV and its 
partners developed a 209 KW solar decentralised network for 
rural electrification and off grid solar facilities in Gwanda 
district. 65 hectares of land used for food production will be 
irrigated with solar-powered water pumps, replacing diesel 
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irrigation pumps. A school and a clinic are connected to the 
solar minigrid, and business centres will also operate on solar 
power. Shops have been established to sell off-grid solar 
household appliances, providing off-farm employment for 
young farmers. The challenge is to develop a financially viable 
and sustainable system, which will serve 8000 people. The size 
of the system and the financial viability model enable us to 
experiment with a model that will enable scaling of access to 
energy.

New insights 
Validation and benchmarking of solar PV and 
cookstoves practice
The Nairobi branch of the Stockholm Environment Institute and 
The Energy for Resource Institute from India assessed SNV’s 
practice in improved cookstoves and solar PV. Reports 
published in 2015 concluded that SNV has a number of unique 
selling points, which include: 

• Systematic market development approach
• Contextualised solutions
• Innovative models through results-based funding 

incentives and distribution schemes
• Engagement of all major private sector players
• Gender mainstreaming

Areas for improvement identified by the knowledge institutes, 
and in which SNV will increase its efforts, are behavioural 
change communication and energy governance interventions. 

The cost of solar PV continued to fall in 2015, making renewable energy often 
the cheapest option for low-income households and offering new economic 
opportunities, especially for women and youth, in retail and instalment.
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Corporate Programmes and Partnerships
The Royal Tropical Institute
The Royal Tropical Institute (KIT) and SNV signed a partnership 
agreement in 2014. The collaboration develops novel 
approaches and products that boost the quality of development 
practices and lead to improved results at a scale commensurate 
with needs and interests of customers and end users. 

In collaboration with KIT, a number of publications on six 
themes were developed and published in 2015:

• Unleashing potential: Gender and Youth in Value Chains
• Market Based Input Supply
• Gender and Household Nutrition Security
• Navigating your way towards Food and Nutrition Security
• Enhancing Labour Productivity: Reaching the Rural Poor
• Value Chain Development @ Scale, Insights from Practice 

A Nutrition and Gender Sensitive Agriculture (NGSA) Toolkit 
was developed to support interventions that address under-
nutrition through gender-sensitive agriculture. The toolkit 
integrates agriculture and nutrition and has a strong focus on 
gender to strengthen practical linkages between nutrition, 
agriculture, water and sanitation interventions.

KIT and SNV develop novel approaches and products that boost the quality of 
development practices and lead to improved results for customers and end users.

KIT and SNV are implementing the EUR 2.8 million Sustainable 
Nutrition 4 All programme in Zambia and Uganda. This 
programme has adapted a model to address nutrition in 
agriculture programmes built on four areas: behavioural 
change, demand creation, development of supply, and an 
enabling environment for nutritious food. It is already being 
applied and replicated in other countries, including Cambodia 
and Laos.

The Junior Professional Programme
The SNV Junior Professional Programme (JPP) is a 2-year 
programme (Oct 2013 - Dec 2015) aiming at developing the 
skills of 12 selected junior professionals from around the world 
in the areas of agriculture, renewable energy, and water, 
sanitation and hygiene.

The first year of the programme introduced the junior 
professionals to SNV’s approach and to the country programme 
in which they deployed. During the second year, each 
professional travelled to another country/region to conduct a 

learning visit; they also attended an international conference 
related to their sector. In the last year of the programme, the 
junior professionals focused on their tasks within the project to 
which they were assigned. 

The JP programme developed the skills of 12 selected junior professionals from 
around the world

After July 2015, focus shifted towards promoting their skills 
more broadly within SNV in an attempt find job opportunities 
after 2015. This resulted in some extensions and shorter 
assignments, yet it has shown difficult to secure long-term 
postings after finalising the programme.

In addition to this, SNV works together with the Young Experts 
programme in both the water and agrifood sector – an initiative 
of the Dutch government aimed at developing young talent in 
these sectors. In several countries, we have been able to 
identify opportunities for both Dutch as well as international 
youngsters to enrol in this programme. It will allow them to 
gain experience on the ground in actual project assignments, 
while learning events within the programme will allow them to 
learn beyond the SNV context and build their network 
throughout the development sector.

Strategic collaboration with Akvo
SNV has been adopting mobile technology as a component of 
several of its programs and products, such as the use of market 
information systems through which farmers can get reliable 
information on prices for their product, the mobile collection of 
monitoring & evaluation data to be uploaded and treated via 
the Internet.

Akvo, a Dutch-based organisation dedicated to development of 
mobile applications for development purposes, is a key partner 
in developing and introducing mobile phone applications. In 
2015, SNV and Akvo increased their collaboration and jointly 
invested in 16 innovative mobile phone applications across our 
three sectors. 

They address:

• The development of sensors (that can be connected to 
mobile phones) for water quality, heat, emission and 
pesticides. 

• The development of a SNV urban water management 
application for (small) water providers, allowing them to 
get better data on their core business/processes. 
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• The development of mobile phone based asset 
management systems for renewable energy technologies, 
notably a ‘SNV biogas app’ and a ‘SNV cookstoves app’. 
These are aimed to significantly ease and improve the 
implementation and tracing of national sector programs 
in these technologies. 

• A tracking & tracing tool for agricultural products (coffee, 
palm oil, horticulture). 

The applications will become part of SNV’s offerings. Various 
SNV programmes are now incorporating these tools into project 
proposals and indications are that donors do indeed appreciate 
these mobile data tools, while they also facilitate national and 
local partners to be in control of their work. Akvo and SNV will 
be shaping a joint marketing strategy in the first part of 2016 
to further bolster their partnership. 

REDD+ Energy and Agriculture 
Programme (REAP)
SNV developed the REDD+ Energy and Agriculture Programme 
(REAP) to address the interface between agriculture and energy 
use across different forest landscapes in order to support low 
emission, pro-poor development pathways. Working with 
governments, businesses and local communities across the 
landscape, SNV developed knowledge products, such as a siting 
tool for zoning areas suitable for sustainable agriculture 
expansion, and a waste to energy toolkit. A climate risk 
management tool was being developed in 2015. This will be 
finalised by mid 2016.

In 2015, SNV focused on integrating the REAP products into 
SNV’s projects in Agriculture and Renewable Energy. 

There has been good progress in developing the thinking and 
positioning of SNV under the REAP programme and the 
products developed. These have led to some clear funding 
opportunities, however, the overall results in terms of order 
intake were slightly below expectations (around EUR 30 
million), mainly due to the slow development of the Burkina 
Faso NAMA project and the slow progress in calls from DRC.

In 2015, SNV focused on integrating the REAP products into SNV’s 
core sectors, in particular Agriculture and Renewable Energy
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Global Support Services
Marketing & Business Development

23% increase in the value of new contracts 

signed

For the fifth year in a row, SNV surpassed its annual order 
intake target. In 2015, it reached EUR 154.6 million (target of 
EUR 125 million) – an increase of 23% compared to 2014. This 
reflects the effectiveness of SNV’s business development efforts 
as well as the trust and recognition that a wide range of donors 
have in SNV.

Order Intake Per Sector (2011-2015)
(EUR millions)

0

40

80

120

160

OtherEnergyWASHAgriculture

20152014201320122011

40

71

99

126

155

At the end of 2015, SNV signed a EUR 35 million contract with 
DGIS on evidence-based advocacy in relation to SNV’s three 
sectors. 

In 2015, the Agriculture sector accounted for 54% of the total 
order intake while the relative share of the WASH sector 
decreased to 25% (37% in 2014). 

The total value of all proposals submitted amounted to EUR 
396 million, an increase of 20% compared to 2014. At the 
same time, the number of proposals sent dropped by 20% 
(from 354 to 284). This reflects SNV’s focus on bigger 
business: the average size of proposals submitted increased by 
36% (from EUR 1.1 million to EUR 1.5 million) and the average 
deal size of contracts signed increased by 20% to above EUR 1 
million. At the same time, the average success rate continued 
at 50%. 

Revenues derived from externally funded contracts, EUR 94 
million, surpassed the revenues from the DGIS programme 
subsidy by EUR 43 million.

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

External funding Programme subsidy

2016
(projected)

20152014201320122011

30% 100%38% 46% 59% 65%

Programme Subsidy vs External Funding (2011-2016)
(EUR millions)

31

39 50

70

94

105

71 

5148

58
64

0.0

Trends in order portfolio
SNV signed over 177 new contracts in 2015, including small 
fee-for-service contracts. While the growing diversity of 
customers makes SNV less vulnerable to sudden policy 
changes, our top 10 donors accounted for 84% of the order 
intake in 2015

In 2015, 49% of the order intake came from Dutch government 
sources such as the EUR 35 million contract with DGIS on 
evidence-based advocacy, the EUR 6.6 million FLOW contract 
(Women’s Leadership Program) and contracts with Dutch 
embassies in Uganda, Ethiopia, Ghana, Benin, among others.

European bilateral donors such as DFID, SDC, SIDA, and BMU 
represent around 25% of the order intake. Bilateral donors value 
SNV for its in-depth knowledge of local context and its strong, 
diverse range of local partnerships. 

2015 Donor Ranking (By value of contracts signed)

1. Netherlands Government
2. SIDA – Swedish Development Cooperation
3. USAID
4. GiZ - German Development Agency (including 

EnDev)
5. DFID
6. UNICEF
7. IFAD
8. The World Bank
9. BMU – German Ministry of Environment
10. Comic Relief

The share of the North American market in SNV’s order 
portfolio was around 9%, with USAID totalling around EUR 
10.1 million (against EUR 9.2 million in 2014). Based on 
current pipeline and increase in win rates, this market share is 
expected to increase to 14% in 2016.
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Donor market trends
The growing refugee crisis is having an impact on the 
development markets in which SNV operates. By the end of 
2015, several European bilateral donors indicated that they 
would have to reduce budget allocation to projected (and 
sometimes even running) programmes. At the same time, 
more opportunities are becoming available for initiatives in 
(youth) employment development to address root causes of 
migration. With its Opportunities for Youth Employment (OYE) 
approach SNV is well prepared to tap into these new 
opportunities. 

Institutional donors increasingly consider private companies as 
key partners in development, and we see a growing number of 
funding modalities involving private sector partners, such as 
public–private Partnerships and Business Challenge funds. SNV 
has a long history in collaborating with private companies and 
is well positioned to tap into these new funding opportunities.

Improved Business Development systems 
and processes
SNV has developed a robust capability to support and 
coordinate business development across the organisation. The 
Business Development Support Unit as part of SNV’s Global 
Support Unit coordinates global calls for proposals, global 
customer account management, and proposal development, 
especially tenders and large grants. Improvements introduced 
in 2015 include the complete makeover of the Business 
Development Policy and Procedures, the development of an 
internal Business Development Manual, a new costing and 
pricing framework and Shipley supported Business 
Development training for senior staff. 

Marketing and marketing communications
In 2015, the former Strategy, Communications and Business 
Development units were merged into a single Marketing & 
Business Development unit. The rationale behind this 
integration is to: 

• Strengthen market focus in the organisation as marketing 
knowledge, strategy and implementation was not 
explicitly organised previously

• Increase value and quality of work
• Improve cost-efficiency and reduce duplication

A first outline of a global marketing strategy was developed 
and new marketing programmes will be rolled out in 2016.

SNV’s website plays a key role in its corporate communications. 
In 2015, the website attracted 259,000 unique visitors – a 20% 
increase from 216,000 visitors in 2014. In terms of social 
media, SNV attracted over 1,700 new international followers on 
Twitter. SNV's company page on LinkedIn grew from 7,700 to 
over 10,000 followers, with three new showcase pages to tailor 
news per sector. To celebrate 50 years of SNV, a Facebook 
company page was created in July which now has over 700 
likes.

To increase SNV’s online profile, a complete overhaul of the 
corporate website was implemented in 2015.

SNV USA
SNV USA is a separate legal entity within SNV, which was 
established to support SNV countries to access the USA donor 

market, government institutions and foundations. In 2015, SNV 
USA realised an order intake of USD 14.8 million (9% of SNV’s 
total). SNV USA also signed a Negotiated Indirect Cost Rate 
Agreement (NICRA) with USAID, which facilitates new business 
development. 

During the year, SNV USA’s strategy, operations and cost 
structures have been reviewed in light of the changing funding 
base of SNV in general. SNV reconfirmed its commitment to the 
US funding market, with a primary focus on US Government 
funding and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. The 
forecasted order intake for 2016 and 2017 of USD 51 million 
will be realised through an additional investment of SNV in the 
US market of approximately USD 2.2 million. In addition, a 
programme has started to align SNV USA with SNV corporate.

Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation
SNV has assessed its monitoring and reporting needs at 
project, country and corporate level. The findings resulted in 
the following actions:

• SNV has improved the monitoring function by 
standardising the Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation 
(PME) guidance for products and approaches in its three 
sectors. This entails generic theories of change (ToC) with 
matching sets of indicators at impact and outcome level 
and acceptable ways of measurement. The ToCs can be 
adjusted to specific contexts and donor requirements. In 
identifying and developing the indicators, SNV selected 
existing globally accepted indicators and methods of 
measurement, whenever possible.

• SNV has reduced the number of harmonised indicators it 
reports on, to ensure that the most impactful and 
accurate data is collected for each of its project globally, 
from 2016 onwards. 

• To meet the future requirements of its multiple donors, 
SNV has decided not to use its current PME software from 
2016 onwards. In 2016, SNV will pilot alternative tools 
for data collection, data storing and data reporting that 
can be customised to the needs of individual projects and 
donors, and will look at ways to make reporting as 
user-friendly as possible. Various programs are using 
AKVO tools for data collection, storing and reporting. The 
tools allow to consolidate data in ways that were 
previously not possible. 

Corporate evaluations
In 2014–2015, SNV corporate conducted six external impact 
assessments. These impact assessments will account for the 
funds received from our donors; provide insights in the results 
achieved and the factors that contributed to these results; and 
contribute to organisational learning and improve our work in 
our three sectors.

An external reference group was set up to ensure quality of the 
evaluations. The reference group met at key moments during 
each evaluation process. 

In 2015, SNV finalised the impact evaluations, with responses 
from the managing board of the following projects:

The evaluation of the WASH programme in Ethiopia showed 
that SNVs capacity building approach has proved to be highly 
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effective. It contributed to positive changes in the areas of 
functionality of water systems, access and use of sanitation 
facilities at household level, hygiene practice, the incidence of 
diarrhoea, access to water at schools as well as community 
ownership of the WASH infrastructures. Overall the evaluation 
shows that SNVs approach, focusing on the ‘software’, has 
generated significant results, but the ‘hardware’ component 
now seems to constitute the main constraint. Access to water 
for households in the project area has declined from 53% in 
2008 to 46.4% in 2015, mainly due to insufficient funds for 
investments in new water schemes and maintenance of existing 
water schemes. 

Similar conclusions on the effectiveness of SNVs capacity 
building approach were drawn for the improved cook stove 
programme in Laos. SNV succeeded in effectively building up 
capacities of clients in the civil sector, the private sector, stove 
producers and the governmental bodies responsible for 
cookstove testing and promotion. SNV’s market based 
approach, ability to learn from lessons of practices around the 
world, focusing on quality and the enabling environment, as 
well as establishing multi-stakeholder platformds was highly 
appreciated. 

Although uptake of bio-digesters in the African Biogas 
Partnership Programme (ABPP) in Burkina Faso and 
Tanzania was less than anticipated, still a large group of 
people was reached. Overall, the group is satisfied with their 
bio-digesters, the production of gas and the use of bio-slurry. 
The evaluators concluded that the most important steps to 
develop a biogas market have been covered by the ABPP. The 
programme, however, is still in control of many functions, 
including price setting, appliance provision, quality control, 
research and development. The evaluation expresses the need 
for an explicit strategy for the future institutionalisation of 
these different biogas functions, and a shift in roles and 
responsibilities from the programme to national sector actors is 
foreseen in the future. 

Summaries of the evaluations, together with responses from 
the managing board, are available on SNV’s website.

Human Resources 
To prepare for the post-subsidy period of 2016 and beyond, 
SNV worked to ensure it had the number and quality of staff 
needed to meet its project portfolio. With the ending of the 
DGIS funded projects per December 1, 2015, this required 
reducing staff numbers, especially for expatriates. The total 
number of staff for year end 2015 decreased by 6.2% 
compared to 2014.

Over the last five years, staff numbers reduced to 1138 in 2012 
as a result of the phase out of our exit sectors. The push to 
offer high quality implementation in our three sectors led to a 
temporary staff increase in 2013 and 2014, reaching a total of 
1365 by the end of 2014. Anticipating the end of the 
programme subsidy from DGIS, staff numbers reduced to 1281 
by the end of 2015. We anticipate another slight drop in 2016 
due to the end of contracts by 1 January 2016, after which 
growth is anticipated, given the forecasted project portfolio. 

With the overall contract portfolio being more fluid, the main 

challenge over the years has been to make the workforce more 
flexible. In all different staffing groups, SNV has managed to 
increase the percentage of definite contracts, allowing SNV to 
better manage the financial and staffing risks.

Staff headcount at 
year end 2015

Total Definite 
contract

Indefinite 
contract

National staff 1067 89% 11%

International staff 153 70% 30%

Global Support Unit 61 51% 49%

Total 1281 85% 15%

Note: 968 staff members are contracted under SNV employment terms and 
conditions, with the remainder (313) on flexible contracts.
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Of all SNV’s staff, 36% is female. In senior leadership positions 
(Supervisory Board, Managing Board and Country Directors), 
this is a slightly lower at 33%. SNV has committed itself in its 
recently approved gender policy to increase the percentage of 
females overall (including in leadership positions) to 50% in the 
coming years.

Recruitment and redundancies
The phasing out all projects covered by programme subsidy 
meant that staff, who had been assigned to those projects, 
were reassigned to other projects. This was however not 
possible in all cases and SNV had to end almost 200 staff 
contracts in the last quarter of 2015. 

In addition, SNV had to adapt to a new reality, where donors 
determine the needed experience and quality levels of staff in 
its projects. As a consequence, it was not always possible to 
place existing SNV staff in the newly won contracts. This – to 
the detriment of SNV – was especially the case for the 
participants in the Junior Professional Programme due to their 
lack of experience. SNV was only able to retain four out of the 
ten highly committed JPP participants for assignments in 2016. 
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Staff database
At the start of 2016, around 85% of SNV staff are on definite 
contracts, with around one third on tenure below one year. It is 
the result of SNV’s strategy to increase the flexibility of its 
workforce. However, this has also led to an increase in 
employee turnover, which requires greater investment in 
recruitment. SNV has employed (and transferred) 600 new 
staff in 2015. To reduce the time needed for acquiring new 
staff, SNV developed a candidate databases for positions that 
we frequently recruit for – both at national and global level. It 
has increased the speed of deployment of staff in the 
Renewable Energy and WASH sector, for the Agriculture an 
additional boost is necessary in 2016. 

Induction and training
In 2015, SNV conducted eight staff induction sessions (the SNV 
Way Programme), which were attended by around 135 people. 
The programme provides a general introduction to SNV’s 
organisational setup, strategy and approaches. With the 
increased inflow of staff, these sessions have become crucial.

SNV also conducted “train-the-trainer” workshops for project 
managers to be able to provide basic project management 
skills to new project managers. The sessions were based on 
SNV’s project management manual and tools. Since late 2014, 
a total of around 400 staff participated in this training.

SNV organised five business development training sessions 
across four continents (Africa, Asia, Latin America and at Head 
Office in The Hague). The training helped to improve proposal 
writing skills and the ability to identify and develop business 
opportunities in order to win more business for SNV. Two days 
of the 3-day programme were conducted by Shipley Associates, 
with the third day conducted by SNV. Around 118 people 
attended the training, and feedback from staff was very 
positive.

To support SNV’s strategy as a product and thought leader, SNV 
staff met throughout the year, in several learning events and 
road shows, which allowed staff to share knowledge, best 
practices and lessons learned on quality improvements to our 
approaches. The Agriculture sector, for example, provided 
sessions in each of our regions (Africa, Asia and Latin America) 
as well at the Head office, to train and educate staff on newly 
defined products and solutions as Climate Smart Agriculture 
and Sustainable Nutrition for All. 

Staff representation and compensation
The Corporate Council – the body which represents SNV 
employees – met formally with the Managing Board 
representative, Michel Farkas, twice during 2015. The 
Corporate Council was informed on the progress of SNV’s 
transition and the Annual Plan 2015 by the Managing Board. 
The Council presented their feedback from both the field and 
corporate level to the Manging Board on concerns of staff and 
possible solutions. The Corporate Council advised positively on 
the intended restructuring of the strategy, communication and 
Business Development units into one integrated Marketing & 
BD department in the Global Support Unit

SNV also finalized the implementation of all the agreements 
made in the Collective Labour Agreements 2014 – 2016 for 

Head Office and Expatriate Staff. The implementation of a new 
system for SNV’s cost of living allowance for expatriate 
positions was finalized at the 1st of January 2016. It resulted 
into an overall reduction of about EUR 200,000 per year. The 
mobility allowance – as agreed with the Trade Union – was 
abolished and replaced by new HR instruments, including a 
hardship- and a labour market scarcity allowance.

Security
Operating in fragile and conflict-prone countries, such as South 
Sudan, DR Congo, Mali, Bangladesh and Burkina Faso, poses 
security issues for our staff. To safeguard our staff and allow 
operations to continue, SNV is using country specific security 
plans that are prescribing prudent behaviour for safety and 
security as well as emergency procedures. For countries with 
an increased security risk, these plans have been reviewed 
(both on a global level as well as by our local teams) and 
improved where needed. Even with these measures in place, 
however, several incidents, including robbery, threats and car 
accidents, did take place. 

The safety of our staff was mostly at risk during the earthquake 
in Nepal in April 2015 and its aftermath. This earthquake didn’t 
only affect our staff, it had a severe impact on our Nepal 
Operations. For several weeks, all activities in Nepal were put 
on hold and only recommenced once the situation was 
stabilised. DGIS has allowed SNV to carry forward a limited 
amount of its subsidy to repair this situation. 

Finance and Control
Programme subsidy spend
The total available subsidy income for the SNV programme for 
regular capacity development was EUR 55 million and the 
actual subsidy usage realised was EUR 51.1 million. This 
underspend of EUR 3.9 million when added to the cumulative 
underspend brought forward from 2014 gave a total 
underspend of EUR 16.8 million for the four-year period 
(2012-2015). This result reflects that global spend on 
programmes was successfully maintained at close to planned 
levels but there were substantial cost savings achieved over the 
last four years through efficiency gains in overhead and 
corporate support costs and through careful management of 
restructuring costs. In the second half of 2015 the final tranche 
of the subsidy payment was adjusted downwards in anticipation 
of this overall cycle result and an amount of EUR 5.9 million of 
advance payment is calculated to be repayable to DGIS on final 
settlement of the agreement in mid 2016.

Resource mobilisation
Total external revenues from resource mobilisation grew by 
37% on 2014 to EUR 94 million. This is the second year of 
similar growth and shows that the high growth in the order 
book has been converted into equally strong implementation 
and realised revenue growth in the last two years. The total 
order intake in 2015 for all future years was EUR 155 million 
and the secured revenue for 2016 (the revenues to be realised 
for work contracted to be carried out during 2015) was already 
at EUR 111 million at the balance sheet date, giving a solid 
base for further sustained growth during 2016.
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Net result
A net deficit of EUR 0.5 million was realised in the year on RM 
operations in the countries. This comprised operating surpluses 
of EUR 0.5 million in Vietnam and the Latin American countries 
offset by a provision of EUR 1.0 million taken for future losses 
on a limited number of specific legacy projects commenced in 
prior years, where the costs to complete the project (direct and 
indirect together) are forecast to exceed contractual revenues 
to the end of the project life. 

Activities 
During 2015 the two main overarching priorities for Finance 
were:

• ensuring a smooth and well controlled financial 
conclusion to the subsidy period, and

• supporting the realisation of high growth in resource 
mobilisation while driving to the reduced cost structure 
necessary for the future. 

In connection with these two main priorities, the standard 
financial planning and reporting processes were further 
improved and developed to better support the changing 
business model, and a number of specific activities were 
undertaken as detailed below.

The 2014 year end was completed on time in the first quarter 
with a clean audit opinion and a reduced number of audit 
adjustments compared with 2013. In achieving this result, a 
controls-based audit approach was completed for the Latin 
American countries, most Asian countries and three of the 
African countries. 

During the second quarter of 2015, the Internal Controls 
Framework (ICF) was updated taking into account relevant 
business practice and external changes, and a full Control Self 
Assessment (CSA) was carried out by all countries and the 
Head Office. The average score for the CSA was improved to 
88% in 2015 from 77% in 2014. Due to these improvements, 
only six countries remained with a full scope local audit over 
2015 and SNV is confident that a solid base has been secured 
for completing the transition to a 100% controls-based 
approach in 2016. 

On corporate level, several improvements have been 
implemented. In the fourth quarter, the Corporate Financial 
Policies Manual and the Project Financial Administration Manual 
were finalised and will serve as the reference for standard 
finance policies and procedures within SNV. In addition, the 
implementation of centralised Treasury operations was 
commenced during the second half of the year and where 
possible incoming donor funds are now being routed through 
the Netherlands to enable improved control and potential for 
earning interest. The amount of liquid funds at the end of 2015 
was the highest in SNV’s history at EUR 79 million reflecting 
the additional attention paid to securing pre-financing by 
donors on larger grants. To further increase visibility and 
control over funds, an eight-quarter global cash flow 
forecasting process was also implemented from the third 
quarter onwards.

During the second quarter, a series of finance strengthening 
workshops led by the Corporate Finance Team was carried out 

in five locations with the country Finance Officers. Besides 
focusing on specific technical questions and accounting areas 
needing attention, a start was made in coaching and developing 
the Financial Officers in-country to make them more effective 
in their country role as a business partner for the Country 
Director and team. 

Improvements were also made in refining the elements of the 
integrated planning and control cycle (Monthly MB reporting, 
Mid-Year Review, Annual Plan/Management Agreement process) 
to better support the new business model. The main building 
blocks were the Integrated Planning Tool (IPT) as the basis for 
forecasting project activity and the project profitability 
reporting developed out of the Black & White implementation to 
monitor full results by projects. Using these tools the subsidy 
and externally funded business streams were separated for 
reporting in readiness for post 2015 operations, allowing the 
net contributions made by country operations on the externally 
funded business to be monitored monthly to track progress to 
sustainability. 

Finance participated in the SAP by Design team during the 
year, with both the Global Support Unit and country 
involvement in defining and tuning future process flows and 
specifying and testing the limited modifications approved for 
implementation of SAP by Design. During the implementation 
in 2016 attention will be paid to more integration of ICF and IT 
control elements directly into the systems configuration set-up 
and the associated finance and business processes. The 
implementation in 2016 will also enable the implementation of 
an efficient digital workflow at HO. 

Information and Communications 
Technology
The move of Head Office to a new building made a smooth 
transition to a new way of working possible. By aligning the 
design of the building with a new IT infrastructure, a flexible 
‘virtual office’ was created. All staff have been equipped with a 
laptop and mobile phone to allow them to access all work 
applications and information online. Video conferencing units 
have been placed in meeting rooms to allow for smooth 
communication with all SNV offices globally. In combination 
with a worldwide introduction of Office 365 tools, staff can 
communicate with Skype for Business and share documents, 
e.g. related to donor projects on SharePoint Online.

SNV’s physical IT infrastructure has reduced and will decrease 
further in 2016. This leads to cost savings and a more secure 
environment An additional positive side effect is a higher level 
of certification that comes with Office365, such as ISAE3402, 
ISO27001 and EU Safe Harbor.

SAP ByDesign is the new cloud application for administrative 
processes aiming at standardized and robust processes, 
improved reporting and better support of project 
implementation processes. The project was delayed, mainly 
due to the implementation of custom developments but also 
because the project had to be restructured in such a way that 
change management will get more focus. These issues were 
addressed and solved in the last quarter of 2015. 
Implementation will take place in 2016 in two waves: four 
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countries in the first wave and the other countries in a second 
wave.

Throughout 2015, SNV maintained the agreed upon level of its 
IT General Controls.

Audits and Risk Management
Internal audits
SNV‘s Internal Audit Unit executed four country audits in 2015. 
These are conducted based on a risk-based audit plan and 
provide the Managing Board with independent and objective 
information on the degree of control of (parts of) SNV’s primary 
and supporting processes. The outcomes of the internal audits 
provide additional assurance and information to SNV’s 
Managing Board in order to detect possible weaknesses, risks, 
good practices, and foster organisational learning.

The audits of 2015 in Ethiopia, Indonesia, Tanzania and 
Zimbabwe show mixed results. Business development and 
Human Resources processes turned out to be in control in most 
countries. However, for both finance and project management, 
there is substantial room for improvement.

The moderate results for project management and finance can 
be partly explained by the fact that only at the end of 2014 
more strict project management and financial project steering 
was introduced (introduction of the Project Management 
Manual and the Black & White cost-allocation per project). 
These improvements did not materialise fully in the first half of 
2015.

In addition to the country audits, two single project audits were 
conducted: one in Benin and one multi country project running 
in Rwanda, Mozambique and Tanzania. 

Outcome summary of internal audits 2015
The follow-up of the audit recommendations is monitored for 
each individual audit over time. For each audit, reports are 
prepared on the status of the implementation of audit 
recommendations to the Managing Board approximately 4 and 
8 months after completion of the audit.

An analysis was made of the results of the 2015 in-field audits, 
highlighting the most important ‘common themes’ that 
emerged from these reports. In the area of Project 
Management, improvements are needed in project 
administration, commitment administration in SAP, financial 
project monitoring and monitoring correctness of time writing. 
In Salesforce, higher quality of (financial) data recorded is 
needed. And for the Local Capacity Builders and external 
consultants engagement process, standardisation of the 
LCB database, including performance assessments, needs 
improvement. 

External audit
The annual accounts of SNV are audited annually by an 
independent external auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V (PwC) resulting in an auditor’s report on the 
annual accounts of SNV as a whole. The external auditor 
reports to the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board.

The 2015 interim audit report by PwC shows that no serious 
new issues came up in 2015. The two main topics highlighted 
by PwC are similar to previous year: the quality of project 
monitoring which needs further improvement and the central 
monitoring on controls relating to expenditure and resource 
mobilisation that needs strengthening. For both topics various 
improvements have been implemented in 2015 and further 
improvements will be made in 2016 by establishing a Project 
Management Office and introducing strict formats for monthly 
closure procedures.

Risk management
SNV’s risk register was renewed at the end of 2014. In a 
workshop with Country Directors, the Managing Director Global 
Support Services and staff from the Global Support Unit the 
most important risks were identified that may prevent SNV 
from achieving its mission and goals. This resulted in the risk 
register 2015 that served to inform the Supervisory Board and 
a guide the development of mitigation measures.

SNV’s risk level is aligned with its strategy and differs per risk 
category. See table below.

Risk category Risk appetite Description

Strategic Low SNV Strategy Paper 2016-2018 focuses deliberately) on continuation of its approach to poverty 
alleviation within the three sectors: Agriculture, Energy and Wash. 

Operational Moderate SNV is aware that in the development context the work is often beyond its sphere of 
influence. SNV acknowledges that of the secured revenue, probably only 90% will be realised 
within time.

Reporting Low SNV only accepts minimal errors in its reporting.

Compliance Low SNV strives to comply with all (including donor) applicable laws and regulations. 

Corruption & 
Fraud

Zero SNV has a zero tolerance related to fraud. A Code of Conduct, a Fraud response policy and a 
whistle-blower policy are in place.

Safety & Security Zero SNV strives for zero instances which breach the safety and security of SNV staff. A Safety and 
Security policy is in place.
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Governance
Supervisory structure 
The Managing Board manages SNV under the supervision of an 
independent Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
consists of a chair, a vice-chair and four regular members. The 
members come from different but complementary backgrounds 
including the development, financial and corporate sectors. 
Together they have extensive experience and expertise in 
international development, sustainability, governance, finance, 
auditing, and marketing.

SNV’s supervisory structure complies with Dutch and 
international standards of good governance:

• Three members of the Supervisory Board hold seats in 
the Selection and Remuneration Committee, which is 
responsible for recommendations to the full Supervisory 
Board regarding the appointment, evaluation and 
remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and Managing 
Board members.

• Two members of the Supervisory Board hold seats on the 
Audit and Risk Committee. This committee monitors 
finance, IT, risk & compliance and advises the 
Supervisory Board on finance, control and risk 
management issues. 

• The Supervisory Board meets informally with the 
Corporate Council yearly.

• The Chairman has – if not being a member of a 
Supervisory Board Committee – a standing invitation to 
attend any of the Committee’s meetings.

• The external auditor is appointed by and reports annually 
to the Supervisory Board. 

In 2015 the Supervisory Board convened six times, the Audit 
and Risk Committee also convened six times, and the Selection 
and Remuneration Committee convened once. Both 
Committees, guided by their own charter, act as advisory and 
preparatory decision-making subgroups of the Supervisory 
Board. 

In the Supervisory Board meetings, the Managing Board 
provided regular updates on the implementation of SNV’s 
operational plan for 2015, including quarterly progress reports 
on the fifteen corporate priorities (see Priorities 2015 on page 
8). 

During 2015, the Supervisory Board continued to focus on 
topics that directly link to the continuity of SNV after 2015, 
including the strategy of SNV and its sectors, the ‘living within 
your means’ operation, where countries are assessed based on 
their financial sustainability after 201 5, and continued its focus 
on the action plans to implement sound project management, 
manage risks, and oversee liquidity.

The Supervisory Board elected Koos Richelle as new Chairman 
to replace Arthur Arnold, whose term ended in October 2015. 
Koos Richelle had been Member since June 2015 before being 
elected to Chairman. William van Niekerk became Member in 
October 2015. He replaced Hans Huis in’t Veld, who stepped 
down from his position.

The Supervisory Board formally approved the Corporate Annual 
Report 2014, as well as to the procuration regulations and 
competence table for the Managing Board. The Corporate 
Annual Plan and Budget for 2016 was approved, and the new 
Strategy 2016-2018 was extensively discussed in the 
Supervisory Board and has also been approved. During the 
year, two members of the Supervisory Board visited SNV 
programmes in Laos and Cambodia. 

During its meetings the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) 
discussed with the Managing Board the results of the external 
and internal audits, including the Managing Board’s response to 
the recommendations. Specific attention was given to regular 
liquidity forecasts, and the development of a treasury policy. 
Also the progress on several internal projects were discussed, 
such as the IT project SAP by Design and the Risk Register. A 
dedicated session was held to discuss and exchange ideas on 
the IT environment, as well as a second session on 
strengthening the finance function within SNV. The ARC advised 
the Supervisory Board to approve the competence table of the 
Managing Board, which describes the internal decision-making 
rules of the MB members and CEO. Fraud cases and security 
issues were reported to the ARC by the Managing Board.

The Selection and Remuneration Committee discussed the 
appraisal procedure for the Managing Board. It was also 
informed about specific remuneration issues of Managing Board 
members and advised to pay outstanding holidays and adjust 
the pension of some Managing Board members.

Guidance in the case of alleged 
irregularities 
SNV’s Code of Conduct provides guidelines for good conduct 
and judgement in ethical and conflict of interest matters. SNV’s 
Whistleblower and Fraud Response Procedures (implemented 
2011) guides SNV employees on how to report cases of alleged 
impropriety and irregularities which breach the Code of 
Conduct. Both procedures were upheld in 2015.

SNV maintains a strict policy of zero tolerance against theft, 
fraud and misuse of SNV’s resources. This was communicated 
to SNV staff on several occasions during 2015.

Nine alleged improprieties were reported in 2015. All were 
solved in the same year or early 2016. The biggest case 
(impact of approximately EUR 15,000) was in Mozambique, 
where fraud was detected related to procurement. Employees 
hired equipment for too high rates, benefiting a particular 
supplier which had a relation with the involved employees. SNV 
conducted a forensic audit, informed the involved donor and 
the two involved employees no longer work for SNV.
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Constitution of Managing Board
A.P. van den Ham (as of March 2011), Chief Executive Officer; Chairman of the Board, SNV 
USA

Other activities*
Board Member, Partos

M. Ritchie (as of April 2013), Managing Director Water, Sanitation and Hygiene

Other activities*
Board Member, Stepping Stone Liberia

A. Wehkamp (as of April 2013), Managing Director Renewable Energy 

T. Derksen (as of September 2013), Managing Director Agriculture 

M. Farkas (as of May 2011), Managing Director Global Support Services / CFO

Other activities*
Board Member of Aerzte ohne Grenzen (Doctors without Borders) Germany; Chairman of the 
Board, CNVP (as per 1-1-2016 member of the Supervisory Board, CNVP)

*All other activities are unpaid
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Constitution of Supervisory Board
J.N.M. Richelle, Chairman of the Supervisory Board (as from 7 October 2015, member as 
from 1 June 2015), Chair of the Selection and Remuneration Committee

Takes seat from: 7 October 2015 Assigned until: 7 October 2019

Ex Director General of the department for International Cooperation in the Dutch Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs, as well as in the European Commission. He presently serves in a number of 
non-executive boards of non-profit organisations being supervisory board member of ECDPM 
and of IHE-Unesco, and chairman of the Advisory Committee on Migration Affairs.

R. de Jong, Member, Member of the Selection and Remuneration Committee 

Takes seat from: 1 July 2012 Assigned until: 1 July 2020 (extended for second term as per 
1 July 2016) 

Chief Market Leader, Royal Philips and a member of the Philips Executive Committee.

M. van Reisen, Member, Member of the Selection and Remuneration Committee
Takes seat from: 20 April 2012 Assigned until: 20 April 2020 (extended for second term as 
per 20 April 2016) 
Professor of International Relations, Innovation and Care at Tilburg University and Professor 
Computing for Society at Leiden University (Netherlands). Director of Europe External Policy 
Advisors, Secretary General of the Europe Programme with Africa (EEPA, Brussels). Member of 
the Dutch Government Council on Foreign Affairs (AIV) and Chair of its Committee on 
Development Cooperation (COS). Member of the Boards of Philips Foundation and 
Transnational Institute.

E.D.H Vinke-Smits, Member, Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee (as from 1 
January 2012)

Takes seat from: 1 December 2011 Assigned until: December 2019 (extended for a second 
term as per 1 December 2015)

Audit Partner of KPMG, Risk Management Partner of KPMG Audit Financial Services and 
member of the Board of Coöperatie KPMG U.A.

W.J. van Niekerk, Member, Member of the Selection and Remuneration Committee 

Takes seat from: 7 October 2015 Assigned until: 7 October 2019

Member of the Executive Board of Tauw Group, and leader for Export and Promotion of 
the Dutch Topsector Water.

B. ter Haar, Member, Member of the Audit and Risk Committee (Vice Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board as per 1-1-2016)

Takes seat from: 1 January 2012 Assigned until: 1 January 2020 (extended for a second 
term as per 1 January 2016)

Director General Social Security and Integration, Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment.
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Constitution of SNV USA Managing Board
A.P. van den Ham, Chairman SNV USA, Chief Executive Officer SNV. Board Member, Partos

M. Barth, Member, Managing Partner, Barth and Associates. Member of the Board of Directors 
of Emerging Markets Private Equity Association (EMPEA) and the International Council of 
Experts of the Bretton Woods Committee. 

K. Lanza, Member, Director, Grant Thornton LLP. Member of the Board of Directors of The 
Competitiveness Institute, the International Executive Service Corps and the Society for 
International Development, Washington, DC Chapter. 

E. Simmons, Member, Independent Consultant; served as Assistant Administrator for 
Economic Growth, Agriculture and Trade of USAID from 2002-2005. Member of the Board of 
Directors for the Partnership to Cut Hunger and Poverty in Africa and the World Vegetable 
Centre. 

F. Tugwell, Member, Independent Consultant; served as President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Winrock International from 1999 to 2013.

N. Ghosh, Member, Executive Director, SNV USA (until 31-03-2016)
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Annual Accounts
SNV’s annual accounts
The annual accounts of SNV Netherlands Development 
organisation (SNV), legally seated in The Hague reflect its main 
activities: the provision of advisory services, management of 
externally financed programmes, knowledge networking, and 
evidence-based advocacy. 

SNV helps to alleviate poverty by focusing on increasing 
people's income and employment opportunities in specific 
productive sectors, as well as improving their access to basic 
services including water, sanitation and hygiene and energy. 
The core capacity building activities in developing countries, the 
Global Support Unit and the activities with partners to support 
capacity building were financed in 2015 by the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs through a programme subsidy and by other 
parties through Resource Mobilisation (RM). In the consolidated 
statement of financial performance, income is reported under 
Subsidy, External revenues and interest received. Expenditures 
comprise costs of the countries in carrying out core subsidy and 
RM funded activities, costs of the Global Support Unit, US RM 
activities, and corporate expenditures including corporate 
partnerships. The balance of income and expenditure is 
transferred to reserves. In the consolidated balance sheet, 
assets and liabilities are reported under Fixed Assets, Current 
Assets, Cash & Bank, Reserves, Provisions and Current 
Liabilities.

During 2015 SNV continued to focus on building up RM 
activities alongside core subsidy funded work to ensure mission 
continuity in 2016 and beyond. Substantial growth of 23 % 
(2014: 26%) in the order book for future years was achieved 
(EUR 154.6 million in 2015 vs EUR 126 million in 2014) and the 
external project revenues realised in 2015 increased 37% on 
2014 (to EUR 94.2 million versus EUR 69.0 million).

Group structure
The consolidated financial statements of SNV for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 comprise SNV the Netherlands 
foundation, SNV USA and LLC US (dormant). Further 
information on the legal form and interrelationship of the 
entities is set out under Accounting Principles.

Finalisation of closure of operations in the 
Balkans
In 2011 SNV commenced the closure of operations in the 
Balkans. During 2015 Albania received final tax clearance  from 
the government, the other countries having received it in 2013. 
At the end of 2015 the only assets remaining on the Albanian 
books were two bank accounts totalling just over EUR 10 
thousand. These amounts were received in the corporate bank 
account in March 2016. During the closedown SNV focused on 
ensuring knowledge consolidation and the transfer of 
programmes to local organisations where possible to protect 
the legacy built up in recent years. In particular SNV succeeded 
in enabling the implementation of Connecting Natural Values 
and People (CNVP), a financially independent locally run 
foundation that took over all of SNV’s forestry operations in the 
Balkans. This organisation continued to prosper since 2013 with 
no further financial involvement from SNV.

Closure and changes of status of country 
operations in 2015
During 2015 the closure of the country operation in Guinea 
Bissau was completed as already decided on in 2014. The 
restructuring of Cameroon was also substantially completed in 
2015 and new contracts there will be managed by Rwanda in 
2016 with Cameroon as a project country. Continuing the 
ongoing internal evaluation of each country’s sustainability it 
was also decided in the second half of 2015 to change the 
status of Benin to a project country under the management of 
Burkina Faso. Other countries converted to project country 
status in prior years to realise cost efficiencies were Bhutan 
(under Nepal), Honduras (under Nicaragua), and Niger (under 
Mali).
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Post programme subsidy countries
Since 2013 under the terms of the subsidy agreement with the 
Ministry no programme subsidy was allowed to be expended in 
Vietnam and in the Latin American countries: Nicaragua, 
Honduras, Bolivia, Peru, Ecuador (closed in 2014) and Costa 
Rica (closed 2014). These countries therefore operated as 
financially self-sufficient entities and also contributed an 
appropriate share of corporate overheads (GSU costs) from 
their external funding, and any surpluses earned or losses 
incurred after full costs had been taken into account were 
taken to SNV equity.

Overall the results of the post programme subsidy countries 
were positive in 2015 with a net surplus of EUR 0.5 million 
confirming that the basis for further sustainable growth and 
mission continuity beyond 2015 has been established.

Conclusion of subsidy cycle 
The end of 2015 marked the conclusion of the 9 year cycle of 
generic subsidy for capacity development from the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs DGIS). The total subsidy income available 
during the final 4 year period of this cycle was EUR 240 million 
and the amount realized was EUR 223.2 million. This enabled a 
flowback to DGIS of EUR 16.8 million whilst SNV 
simultaneously exceeded the impact targets agreed with DGIS 
for capacity development and also successfully built up 
sustainable RM business to a level ensuring continuation of the 
mission beyond the end of the cycle. 

Within this 4 year period certain amounts were agreed with 
DGIS to be spent under the transition plan set out in the 
Corporate Multi-Annual Plan agreed in 2012. These amounts 
were specifically related to transition in the categories of 
workforce rightsizing, infrastructure decrease, organisational 
costs, change capacity and product innovation. The total 
amount realized under these headings was EUR 13.8 million. A 
detailed table is included in Note 21 to the consolidated 
statement of financial performance.

The annual accounts consist of the following: 

• consolidated balance sheet after appropriation of balance 
income and expenditure

• consolidated statement of financial performance
• consolidated cash flow statement
• accounting principles
• notes to the consolidated balance sheet 
• notes to the consolidated statement of financial 

performance
• balance sheet SNV Foundation
• statement of financial performance SNV Foundation 
• notes to the annual accounts SNV Foundation
• independent auditor’s report
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Consolidated balance sheet after appropriation of balance of income and expenditure 
(all amounts in Euro)

Assets Note 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Fixed Assets

Tangible Fixed Assets 1

Buildings & Terrain 861,653 727,963

Vehicles 1,373,651 1,211,085

Equipment 777,516 704,394

Other Fixed Assets 766,426 115,053

Assets in transition 611,186 509,538

Subtotal 4,390,432 3,268,033

Financial Fixed Assets 2

Guarantee funds 584,758 219,627

Subtotal 584,758 219,627

Current Assets

Resource Mobilisation Receivables 3 20,958,266 22,995,680

Other receivables 4 2,867,997 1,474,942

Prepayments & Accrued Income 5 3,187,356 2,652,015

Subtotal 27,013,619 27,122,637

Cash & Bank 6 78,747,682 65,577,633

Subtotal 78,747,682 65,577,633

Total Assets 110,736,491 96,187,930
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Liabilities Note 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Reserves 7

Continuity reserve 32,715,308 32,715,308

Free Reserves 3,720,743 3,769,422

Earmarked reserve 6,597,000 0

Subtotal 43,033,051 36,484,730

Provisions

Provision for Orientation Leave 8 198,788 345,321

Provision for Severance 9 1,439,974 1,176,563

Subtotal 1,638,762 1,521,884

Current Liabilities

Resource Mobilisation Payables 10 45,275,242 27,946,314

Ministry of Foreign Affairs Subsidy 11 5,935,934 16,940,286

Creditors 12 3,532,939 1,887,790

Accrued Expenses 13 8,827,765 9,124,630

Taxes & Social Security 14 1,332,215 883,853

Pensions 15 1,160,583 1,398,443

Subtotal 66,064,678 58,181,316

Total Liabilities 110,736,491 96,187,930
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Consolidated statement of financial performance (all amounts in Euro)

Note Realised 2015 Budget 2015 Realised 2014

Income

 Subsidy Income Ministry of Foreign Affairs 17 51,104,352 52,800,000  47,901,472 

 Revenue from Resource Mobilisation 18 94,213,872 75,000,000  68,988,924 

 Interest received 19  136,262 0  151,234 

Total Income 145,454,486 127,800,000 117,041,630 

Expenditure 20/21

Countries 117,344,416 101,800,000  98,352,419 

Total country spend 117,344,416 101,800,000  98,352,419 

Global Support Unit 14,863,580 20,400,000  11,608,306 

Partnership Costs 5,498,149 3,900,000  3,364,640 

Total GSU spend  20,361,729 24,300,000  14,972,946 

SNV USA  1,328,740 1,500,000  1,941,119 

Total US spend  1,328,740 1,500,000  1,941,119 

Total Expenditure 139,034,885 127,600,000  115,266,484 

Balance Income and Spend 6,419,601 200,000  1,775,146 

Attributable to Reserves:

Interest  98,814 0 124,337 

Net result SNV Foundation (503,878) 200,000  1,645,257 

Net result SNV USA 227,665 0  5,552 

Appropriation to earmarked reserves 6,597,000 0 0

Total 6,419,601 200,000  1,775,146 

Balance after appropriation   0 0 0 
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Consolidated cash flow statement (all amounts in Euro)

Note
For the year 

ended 31.12.2015
For the year 

ended 31.12 2014

Total Ministry of Foreign Affairs 17 51,104,352 47,901,472

External Resource Mobilisation 18 94,213,872 68,988,924

Total Expenditure 20/21 (139,034,885) (115,265,780)

Interest received 19 37,448 26,897

Cash flow from operating activities 6,320,787 1,651,513

Depreciation 1 1,256,611 1,081,828

(Inc)/Dec Financial Fixed Assets 2 (365,131) (40,941)

(Inc)/Dec Project Receivables 3 2,037,414 (9,583,298)

(Inc)/Dec short-term receivables 4-5 (1,928,396) (1,036,627)

Inc/(Dec) provisions 8-9 116,878 (1,927,951)

Inc/(Dec) Project Payables 10 17,328,928 173,481

Inc/(Dec) short-term payables 11-15 (9,445,565) 3,610,547

Adjustment for reserve items 7 0 217,320

SNV USA timing and FX adjustments 7 128,720 0

(Gains)/losses on sale of fixed assets 166,580 (236,880)

Total non-cash movements 9,296,039 (7,742,521)

Net cash flow from operating activities 15,616,826 (6,091,008)

Purchase of fixed assets 1 (2,911,581) (1,867,934)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 365,990 473,187

Net cash flow from investments (2,545,591) (1,394,747)

Interest received 98,814 124,337

Cash flow from financing 98,814 124,337

Net cash flow 13,170,049 (7,361,418)

Cash and Bank at January 1,2015 6 65,577,633 72,939,051

Cash and Bank at December 31, 2015 6 78,747,682 65,577,633

Net cash flow 13,170,049 (7,361,418)
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General notes

Objective of the foundation and nature of 
activities
SNV is a Netherlands-based international development 
organisation that is dedicated to a society where all people 
enjoy the freedom to pursue their own sustainable 
development. SNV’s advisors contribute to this by 
strengthening the capacity of local organisations through the 
provision of advisory services, knowledge networking, and 
evidence-based advocacy. In 2015 SNV carried out its mission 
in 33 countries in Asia, Africa and Latin America and had 
management and business development operations in the 
Netherlands and Washington DC, USA.

Group structure
The consolidated financial statements of SNV for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 comprise SNV the Netherlands 
foundation, SNV USA and LLC US (dormant). SNV the 
Netherlands is an independent not-for-profit foundation set up 
in 1965 and has its registered office at Parkstraat 83, The 
Hague, The Netherlands. The operations in 33 foreign countries 
are part of this foundation. SNV LLC US is located at 7500 Old 
Georgetown Rd, Suite 901, Bethesda, Maryland, USA, and SNV 
The Hague holds 100% of the shares in the issued capital. 
During 2012 the activities of SNV LLC US were transferred to a 
newly established US 501(c)3 public charity foundation SNV 
USA and as at the end of 2012 SNV LLC USA was dormant. 
SNV USA engages in strategic partnerships with multilateral 
and bilateral organisations, corporations, foundations and other 
entities to expand the scale and impact of SNV’s work through 
additional resource mobilisation and it provides a more 
effective structure for US donors than the LLC. SNV USA is a 
fully independent entity for US purposes but under Dutch GAAP 
requirements has been consolidated on the basis of effective 
control. 

Consolidation principles
Financial information relating to group entities that are 
controlled by SNV has been included in the consolidated 
financial statements of SNV after elimination of intercompany 
relationships and transactions.

Related parties
All legal entities that can be controlled, jointly controlled or 
significantly influenced are considered to be a related party in 
addition to statutory directors and other key management of 
SNV. Transactions with related parties are disclosed in the 
notes insofar as they are not transacted under normal market 
conditions.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared on the indirect 
basis. The cash items disclosed in the cash flow statement 
comprise cash at banks and on hand and cash flows 
denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at 
average exchange rates.

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet and statement of 
financial performance
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General Policies

General
The consolidated annual accounts are prepared in accordance 
with RJ 640 accounting standards. The accounting policies set 
out below relate to the consolidated annual accounts as a 
whole. Assets and liabilities are stated at historical cost, 
production cost or at fair value  at the time of acquisition. If no 
specific valuation principle has been stated, valuation is at 
historical cost. 

Comparison with previous year
The valuation principles and method of determining the result 
are the same as those used in the previous year. Comparative 
data for 2014 has been restated to the same basis as 2015 
where a change in presentation format has been made.

Foreign currency
Items included in the financial statements of group companies 
are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the respective group company operates 
(the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in euros, which is the functional and presentation 
currency of SNV. 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
converted to the closing rate of the functional currency on the 
balance sheet date. The translation differences resulting from 
settlement and conversion are credited or charged to the 
income statement.

Operational Leasing 
The company may have lease contracts whereby a large part of 
the risks and rewards associated with ownership are not for the 
benefit of or not incurred by the company. Such lease contracts 
are recognized as operational leasing and lease payments are 
recorded on a straight-line basis, taking into account 
reimbursements received from the lessor, in the income 
statement for the length of the contract.
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Accounting principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities

Tangible fixed assets
Assets are depreciated by asset group over their expected 
economic lives using the linear method. Residual value is not 
taken into account. All tangible fixed assets are included at 
historical cost and are converted using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of purchase. Assets in transition relate to 
prepayments on assets that have not been received at balance 
sheet date and as a consequence have not yet depreciated. The 
tangible fixed assets purchased by or for externally financed 
projects are not taken into consideration as they will be handed 
over to the partners at the end of the project period.

The principal annual rates of depreciation used are:

Terrains 0%

Buildings 6.67%

Vehicles 25%

Equipment 33%

Other Fixed Assets 25%

Renovation buildings in line with the remaining duration of 
the lease contract

Renovation and related repair cost regarding the buildings are 
capitalised. Other costs of repair and maintenance are reported 
in the statement of financial performance in the fiscal year 
when they were carried out.

Financial fixed assets
The Guarantee funds stated under Financial Fixed Assets are 
stated at the estimated recoverable value. 

Current Assets
Current Assets include Resource Mobilisation Receivables which 
are amounts relating to projects carried out by SNV on behalf 
of external donors. The amounts are stated at the invoiceable 
value  and represent the receivables for work already carried 
out in accordance with the contract terms for which the funding 
had not been received from the donor by the balance sheet 
date. The amounts are all due within one year. The 
collectability of the amounts is reviewed and where necessary 
provision is made against the invoiceable value. Where there is 
clear evidence that the total costs to complete a project will 
exceed the contractual revenues over the remaining project life 
a provision is made against the future loss and deducted from 
the value of Resource Mobilisation Receivables. Other 
receivables, prepayments and accrued income are also included 
in current assets.

Cash and Bank
Cash and bank accounts are stated in EUR and are carried at 
nominal value. The foreign currency denominated accounts are 
revalued based on exchange rates on the balance sheet date. 

Reserves
Reserves are at the disposal of SNV and are maintained to 
ensure that SNV can continue to carry out its mission. The 
reserves comprise a continuity reserve set aside to enable SNV 
to carry on operations in the event of unforeseen adverse 
circumstances, free reserves and earmarked reserves. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised for legally enforceable or constructive 
obligations that exist at the balance sheet date and for which it 
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required and a 
reliable estimate can be made. They are measured at the best 
estimate of the amount necessary to settle the obligation at the 
balance sheet date and are carried at the nominal value of the 
expected settlement value except for pension provisions which 
are valued on the basis of actuarial principles.

Current liabilities
Current Liabilities include Resource Mobilisation Payables which 
relate to projects being carried out by SNV on behalf of 
external donors. The amounts stated represent funding 
received in advance from donors for which the relevant work 
had not been carried out by the balance sheet date but will be 
completed within one year. The current account balance with 
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs is shown separately.

Creditors, Accrued expenses, Taxes and Social Security and 
Pension amounts payable are also included under current 
liabilities.

In respect of pensions, in 2015 SNV provided its expatriate and 
head office staff with three different  options based on a 
contribution percentage of 70% for the employer and 30% for 
the employee. HO staff and Dutch expatriate staff recruited in 
the Netherlands were provided with a scheme based on an 
average wage system where the pension fund determines on a 
yearly basis whether indexation will take place. The minimum 
legal requirement for allowing indexation as per 2015 is an 
average coverage rate of at least 110%. The average coverage 
ratio for the year 2015 was declared 98.7%, so no indexation is 
allowed. Other expatriate employees had a choice between 
investing their pensions in a life insurance scheme (this option 
was removed at the end of 2015) or in an investment scheme 
with an insurance company. The life insurance scheme is based 
on an average wage system, the yearly indexation option was 
not used this year by SNV following the indexation of the 
pension fund. The investment scheme was implemented in 
April 2011 and is a defined contribution scheme. The expat is 
able to choose from four investment packages with differing 
risk levels in which to invest the pension contribution and is 
able to take up the invested money after the labour contract 
with SNV has ended. No provisions are taken for the indexation 
risk of the other schemes as the policy of the pension fund is 
leading. National pensions are based on national legal systems 
and vary from country to country. If necessary provisions are 
taken in the countries.
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Accounting principles for determining the balance of income and expenditure

General
The accounting principles are unchanged from last year. The 
format used for the income and expenditure statement has 
been adopted in place of a standard model as it is considered 
to give the best insight into the activities of SNV in 2015. The 
result for the year is the difference between the realisable 
value of SNV’s services provided and the costs and other 
charges for the year. In those countries where all projects are 
entirely funded by external donors the difference between 
income and expenditure is recognised as a gain or a loss and 
taken to free reserves. In countries where there is a mixture of 
subsidy and external funding the balance of income and 
expenditure is determined as the difference between the 
income generated by the SNV programme and the expenditure 
related to implementing the SNV programme, consistent with 
prior years.

Revenue recognition
Income from contracts carried out for RM customers is 
recognized on an accrual basis in proportion to the value of the 
project carried out up to the balance sheet date relative to the 
total of activities to be carried out under the project. 

Subsidy income
Subsidy income is recognised as income in the year in whch 
the relevant subsidized costs were incurred.

Costs
All project expenses relating to activities carried out prior to 
the balance sheet date are taken into account in the year’s 
expenditure, including employee costs, direct project costs and 
attributable indirect costs. Overhead costs not directly 
attributable to the project costs are also taken into account in 
the year. 

Interest income 
Interest income earned on subsidy monies held in excess of the 
underlying capital base is allocated to subsidy income.
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
Fixed assets

1. Tangible fixed assets
The following table sets out the tangible fixed assets by category:

EUR
Buildings 
and terrains

Vehicles Equipment Other 
inventory

Assets in 
transition

Total

Purchasing value 2,265,137 6,650,421 6,595,693 1,666,838 509,538 17,687,627

Cumulative depreciation (1,537,174) (5,439,336) (5,891,299) (1,551,785) - (14,419,594)

Book value 1 January 2015 727,963 1,211,085 704,394 115,053 509,538 3,268,033

Investments 239,560 723,435 556,115 781,285 611,186 2,911,581

Disposals (purchase value) (157,866) (1,210,275) (711,299) (411,867) (509,538) (3,000,845)

Disposals (cumul, depreciation) 152,141 1,203,741 701,378 411,014 - 2,468,274

Depreciation (100,145) (554,335) (473,072) (129,059) - (1,256,611)

Movement in year 133,690 162,566 73,122 651,373 101,648 1,122,399

Book value 31 December 2015 861,653 1,373,651 777,516 766,426 611,186 4,390,432

Purchasing value 2,346,831 6,163,581 6,440,509 2,036,256 611,186 17,598,363

Cumulative depreciation (1,485,178) (4,789,930) (5,662,993) (1,269,830) - (13,207,931)

Book value 31 December 2015 861,653 1,373,651 777,516 766,426 611,186 4,390,432

The depreciation cost of the buildings is based on linear depreciation over 15 years. A four-year depreciation period has been 
applied to vehicles and inventory. The depreciation period of building renovation is flexible, depending on the duration of the lease 
contract. Equipment is written off in three years. 

The net increase in assets is mainly related to the movement in other inventory (office furniture) in the Netherlands (538K) and 
Zimbabwe (89K). In the Netherlands investments were made for the move to the new office and the old inventory which was fully 
depreciated was disposed of (accumulated depreciation value of 384K). 

In Uganda (103k) and Zambia (109K) a net investment was made in improvements to buildings.

The investments in vehicles in 2015 include the receipt of last year assets in transitions related to vehicles (401K) and vehicles 
bought during the year (378K). There were also significant disposals of fully depreciated vehicles as in Benin (original cost 210K), 
Bhutan (83K), Congo (139K), Cameroon (163K), Guinea Bissau (90K), Ghana (64K) and Niger (144K).

The assets in transition at end 2015 (EUR 611K ) is for assets purchased but not yet delivered and is mainly equipment and other 
inventory spread over several countries.

2. Financial Fixed Assets
These are guarantee amounts relating to two projects. One is a partnership with the Ecobank in Congo for a micro-finance project 
where beneficiaries can borrow money from the bank on meeting specific SNV criteria but need to repay the money before the 
end of 2018. There is also a project that started in Benin in 2015 for which a guarantee fund for ABC clients was set up with the 
bank in XOF where the deposit will be reimbursed at the end of the project at 31-12-2017. The amounts are stated at the net 
expected recoverable value.

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 219,627 195,933

Movement in year 365,131 23,694

Total as at 31 December 584,758 219,627
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Current Assets

3. Resource Mobilisation Receivables
These are amounts due from donors for work carried out on contracts and are receivable within a year. The settlement terms vary 
by donor and contract conditions and can extend to a number of months with some large organisations. The collectability of the 
amounts has been reviewed resulting in recognized losses in 4 countries totalling EUR 248K, lowering the total receivables 
amount by just under 1%.

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 22,995,680 13,412,382

Movement in year (2,037,414) 9,583,298

Total as at 31 December 20,958,266 22,995,680

4. Other receivables
The balance includes deposits for rent, maintenance and utility contracts for properties in countries where SNV operates. The 
main increase in these amounts is in the Netherlands as a result of the rental contract for the new office and 2 new IT contracts 
for the support of all SNV countries (totalling EUR 319K). The balance also includes advances to partners and advances and loans 
to employees.

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 1,474,942 1,470,506

Movement in year 1,393,055 4,436

Total as at 31 December 2,867,997 1,474,942

5. Prepayments & accrued income
Prepayments relate to items such as rent and school fees. Accrued income relates to amounts to be received from tax authorities 
or other non RM amounts.

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 2,652,015 1,436,022

Movement in year 535,341 1,215,993

Total as at 31 December 3,187,356 2,652,015

6. Cash & bank
EUR 2015  2014

Cash Bank Total Cash Bank Total

Balance as at 1 January 80,103 65,497,530 65,577,633 81,211 72,857,840 72,939,051

Movement in year (3,211) 13,173,260 13,170,049 (1,108) (7,360,310) (7,361,418)

Total as at 31 December 76,892 78,670,790 78,747,682 80,103 65,497,530 65,577,633

The bank balances include EUR 28,190,608 held on specific separate accounts restricted to usage on resource mobilisation 
projects (2014 EUR 22,321,097). Another saving account is restricted for the surety of the bank guarantees issued (EUR 2.5 
million maximum) see note 16. The remaining cash is unrestricted.
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Reserves
7. Reserves
The Managing Board resolved in 2013 to set aside an amount within total reserves as a continuity reserve to enable SNV to carry 
on operations in the event of unforeseen adverse circumstances. An amount of EUR 34,000,000 has been calculated as the target 
for this continuity reserve and there was no change during the year to the balance of EUR 32,715,308 brought forward. The 
additional result generated by external resource mobilisation was taken to free reserves which are used for investment in 
innovation and other operational areas to be decided on by the Board and to cover possible future project deficits and investment. 
At the end of 2015 certain additional earmarked reserves were set up at the conclusion of the subsidy cycle relating to liabilities 
and commitments arising during the subsidy period which had not been fully discharged before the end of the year.

EUR Continuity Reserve Free Reserves Earmarked Reserves Total

Reserves as at 1st January 32,715,308 3,769,422 0 36,484,730

Financial income 0 98,814 0 98,814

RM net deficit 0 (503,878) 0 (503,878)

Earmarked reserves 0 0 6,597,000 6,597,000

Foreign exchange adjustment 0 30,395 0 30,395

SNV USA surplus 0 325,990 0 325,990

Total as at 31 December 32,715,308 3,720,743 6,597,000 43,033,051

The RM net deficit for the year comprises EUR 513,122 surplus on operations in Vietnam and the Latin American countries, and a provision for future 

losses on legacy projects of EUR 1,017,000 where costs to completion exceed contractual revenues. The total of reserves stated above at 31st 

December 2015 of EUR 43,033,051 includes a cumulative net surplus of EUR 609,037 from SNV USA operations (EUR 325,990 from 2015 

comprising EUR 227,665 current year surplus and EUR 98,325 due to timing differences recognised in 2015 arising out of different NL and US 

accounting treatment, EUR 30,395 arising from FX revaluation of net assets in 2015, and EUR 252,652 brought forward from prior years).

The earmarked reserves appropriated during the year were as follows:

EUR

Impact Assessments completing in 2016 80,000

CAR 2015 additional reporting 75,000

SNV USA business development 1,690,000

Completion of global systems upgrade 560,000

Nepal earthquake response extension 275,000

AKVO Mobile technology partnering 400,000

Completion of Cameroon restructuring 40,000

Fixed Asset depreciation reserve 3,477,000

Total earmarked reserves 6,597,000

Provisions

8. Provision for Orientation Leave
As part of a special agreement with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs dating from the demerger in 2002 an amount was set aside 
from core subsidy to cover potential future expenditures for Orientation Leave for certain staff. In 2012 the status of the 
earmarked fund was changed into a provision for orientation leave and adjusted yearly to cover any remaining liabilities. During 
2015 the reserve is reduced as a result of 4 employees making use of the orientation leave and 1 employees leaving SNV where 
no future reserve is now needed. At the end of 2015 the reserve carried forward related to 4 employees.

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 345,321 1,139,742

Disbursed (146,533) (794,421)

Total as at 31 December 198,788 345,321
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9. Provision for severance
EUR 2015 2014

Severance Organisational redesign a 373,408 190,365

Severance national law b 1,066,566 986,198

Total as at 31 December 1,439,974 1,176,563

(a) Organisational redesign

The amount relates to ongoing organisational restructuring for specific staff positions. The size of the provision at the balance 
sheet date depends on the number of staff involved (9 staff at the end of 2015 compared with 5 staff at the end of 2014 of which 
all were paid out during the year), the compensation packages for the staff involved and the current rules for calculation of 
severance amounts. 

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 190,365 169,819

Movement in year 183,043 20,546

Total as at 31 December 373,408 190,365

(b) Severance required by national law and for local restructuring

In several African countries where SNV operates it is mandatory to build up annually a provision for amounts payable to staff on 
severance regardless of the reason for the contract termination. In addition the workforce was further reduced in some countries 
to ensure sustainability going forward in 2016.

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 986,198 2,140,274

Movement in year 80,368 (1,154,076)

Total as at 31 December 1,066,566 986,198

Current Liabilities 

10. Resource Mobilisation payables
These are amounts received from donors for contract pre-financing:

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 27,946,314 27,766,397

Movement in year 17,328,928 179,917

Total as at 31 December 45,275,242 27,946,314

The amounts are classified as short term as they are used to fund contract activities to be carried out within the next year. There 
is an increase related to overall volume growth in the business which increases the total of pre-received amounts for existing 
projects and also for some projects that will commence in 2016.
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11. Ministry of Foreign Affairs Subsidy
This balance represents the current account with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs relating to the nine-year subsidy agreement 
ending in 2015. Under the terms of the most recent revision to this subsidy agreement no settlement was required at the end of 
the three-year cycle ending in 2012 and the total prefinanced amount from 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 was carried forward into 
the final year of the agreement. At the start of the year this balance was EUR 16,940,286 but by the end of 2015 the combination 
of 2015 usage with a lower transfer than the maximum set out for the final year of the agreement brought the net repayable 
balance down to EUR 5,567,498.

The amount brought forward from 2014 of EUR 166,555 receivable from the Ministry related to severance programmes in the 
period 2011-2012 was also offset in calculating the final balance repayable.

EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 16,940,286 15,008,314

Received per subsidy agreement 40,100,000 50,000,000

Used core subsidy (51,104,352) (47,901,473)

Transfer from Ministry receivables 0 (166,555)

Total as at 31 December 5,935,934 16,940,286

The closing balance is made up as follows: 

EUR 2015 2014

Pre-received core subsidy 2011 9,121,700 9,121,700

Pre-received core subsidy 2012 5,914,921 5,914,921

Pre-received core subsidy 2013 1,514,910 1,514,910

Balkan adjustment 2013 (1,543,217) (1,543,217)

Pre-received core subsidy 2014 2,098,527 2,098,527

Settlement Ministry receivables 2014 (166,555) (166,555)

Usage of pre- received core subsidy 2015 (11,004,352) 0

Total as at 31st December 5,935,934 16,940,286

12. Creditors
EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 1,887,790 1,289,941

Movement in year 1,645,149 597,849

Total as at 31 December 3,532,939 1,887,790

Creditors include non-donor payables such as partners and for fixed assets and other services. The highest balances and increase 
in creditors is in the Netherlands (increase of EUR 1.2 million) and in Ethiopia (increase of EUR 0.7 million). In the Netherlands 
creditors include amounts related to support services for the countries such as ICT, relocations services and corporate 
programmes and evaluations. In December invoices with relative huge amounts were received related to evaluations and 
corporate programmes and the final salary run of December was only paid in 2016 resulting in a relative high closing amount in 
the Netherlands. The increase in Ethiopia is related to partnerships.
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13. Accrued expenses
The increase in amounts to be paid is mainly related to cost in 2015 incurred in the countries but payments are not made yet. The 
increase is offset by the decrease in the leave days provision owing to more employees taking their holidays or pay-out of 
(compensation) leave days. 

EUR 2015 2014

Leave days  1,077,588  1,451,827 

Holiday allowance  472,718  527,790 

Amounts to be paid  7,277,459  7,145,012 

Total as at 31 December  8,827,765  9,124,630 

14. Taxes & Social Security 
EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 883,853 933,551

Movement in year 448,362 (49,698)

Total as at 31 December 1,332,215 883,853

The main increase in taxes (which are payroll related) and social security are due to changes in payment schedules in Ethiopia 
(232K) and Kenya (120K). In 2014 payments were done in the same or following month but in 2015 they were carried out each 
half year leaving additional months outstanding compared to prior year.

15. Pensions
EUR 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 1,398,443 1,332,868

Movement in year (237,860) 65,575

Total as at 31 December 1,160,583 1,398,443

The net pension liabilities decreased in 2015 against 2014 as a result of a change in work force contracts in South Sudan leading 
to payments to employees for the period 2011-2015 totalling EUR 292K.
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16. Commitments and contingent liabilities
Suppliers’ contracts

 
Expected Amount 
EUR less than 1 year 
(2016)

Expected Amount EUR 
between 1 - 5 years 
(2017-2020)

Expected Amount 
EUR > 5 years (2021 
onwards)

Total Amount 
(EUR)

Rent Countries 452,082 29,278 0 481,360

Rent HO 0 478,812 0 478,812

Total Rent 452,082 508,090 0 960,172

Contract Suppliers   

Countries 143,884 9,590 0 153,474

Contract Suppliers HO 794,064 753,511 0 1,547,575

Total Contract Suppliers 937,948 763,101 0 1,701,049

 1,390,030 1,271,191 0 2,661,221

The total contingent liabilities of SNV for rent is 960K. In 2015 Head Office (HO) moved to the new office, however the contingent 
liability for HO is only related to 2017-2020. The HO rent of 2016 is prepaid and recognised in the balance sheet. 

SNV has signed several contracts with suppliers of goods and services of which EUR 1.548K is for Head Office in The Hague (HO) 
and EUR 153K is outside the Netherlands. The total contingent liabilities to suppliers in HO are mainly 3 contracts of which 2 
contracts relate to total SNV: a software license contract supporting all SNV countries and the investment pension fund for expats 
totalling EUR 1.0 million. The other contract relates to HO only for facilitating telecommunication in HO totalling EUR 250K.

Legal cases in progress
At the end of 2015 there were 13 legal cases outstanding against SNV of which 9 were brought to court by former employees and 
4 by other parties. Management considers the risk of substantial liabilities arising on these cases to be in general low and in the 
other cases accruals have been taken.

Bank guarantees
The bank guarantees relate to projects except for the Netherlands guarantee for the rental of the building.

Country Guarantee Amount Currency EUR equivalent Validity Period

Congo 1,875,000 USD 1,496,500 Dec 2018

Cameroon 258,026 EUR 258,026 Nov 2016

Niger 81,660,470 XOF 121,846 March 2016

Netherlands 68,727 EUR 68,727 6 months after end of contract

Ethiopia 212,931 ETB 9,123 Date of approval completion of work

Peru 33,630 PEN 9,339 Jan 2016

Peru 6,150 USD 1,708 May 2016 

Total 1,965,269
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Notes to the consolidated statement of financial performance

Income and contribution

17. Subsidy income Ministry of Foreign Affairs
The total available subsidy income for the SNV programme for regular capacity development activities was EUR 55 million in 
2015, the same as in 2014. The subsidy income actually realised in 2015 was EUR 51.1 million. During 2015, taking into account 
that there was a cumulative prefinanced underspend brought forward from 2014 of EUR 16.9 million, the amount transferred was 
reduced to EUR 40.1 million, the overall result being a reduction in the prefinanced balance to EUR 5.9 million by the end of the 
subsidy cycle.

18.  Revenue from Resource Mobilisation
Resource Mobilisation (RM) income realised in 2015 was EUR 94.2 million (2014: EUR 69.0 million) which was EUR 19.2 million 
(2014: EUR 11.9 million) above plan. This was the third consecutive year of healthy growth with a very strong 37% increase in 
2015 (2014: 39% on the prior year) and SNV entered 2016 with a year to date order book of EUR 155 million (2014: EUR 126 
million) and secured revenue of EUR 111 million (2014: EUR 78 million) representing contracts scheduled to be carried out during 
2015.

The RM income of 94.2 million comprised EUR 51.9 million in Agriculture, EUR 15.5 million in Renewable Energy and EUR 26.8 
million in WASH.

The significantly better than plan revenue performance is reflected in the correspondingly higher level of country costs which are 
primarily project related. Overall a net operating surplus of EUR 0.5 million was generated from country operations, before a 
provision of EUR 1.0 million was made for losses to completion on specific legacy projects entered into some years ago before full 
cost recovery control was in place on all new projects. The net deficit after this provision was EUR 0.5 million.

19. Interest received
During the subsidy agreement period 2002–2006, SNV was permitted by the Ministry to add all interest earned to reserves. From 
2007 onwards SNV has been allowed to add only the interest earned on SNV’s own liquid resources, the balance of interest 
earned being allocated to core subsidy. This year the total interest received was EUR 136,262 and EUR 98,814 was added to 
reserves. The amount earned was slightly lower than in 2014 due to lower market interest rates compared to prior year.
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20. Expenditures
SNV expenditures are classified into Country and Corporate layers. The Corporate layer includes the Global Support Unit (GSU) 
costs and Corporate Programmes and Partnerships. Expenditures made by SNV USA are shown separately. 

EUR Realised 2015  Budget 2015 Realised 2014

Countries

Gross salaries 20,643,316 19,139,330 18,253,211

Social securities 1,040,930 965,092 1,092,363

Pension premiums 1,678,866 1,556,551 1,719,177

Staff costs and allowances 9,609,118 8,909,038 9,029,198

Travel and lodging 4,549,433 4,217,980 4,023,762

Other 324,114 300,500 364,020

Personnel costs 37,845,777 35,088,491 34,481,731

Depreciation 1,126,589 1,044,510 1,011,378

Facilities 9,464,540 8,774,993 9,174,892

LCBs 10,355,833 9,601,350 11,735,792

External advisory staff 9,762,908 9,051,623 9,146,230

Other 48,788,769 38,239,033 32,802,396

Other costs 79,498,639 66,711,509 63,870,688

Total Countries 117,344,416 101,800,000 98,352,419

Global Support Unit

Gross salaries 3,579,172 3,318,408 4,047,718

Social securities 514,581 477,091 558,793

Pension premiums 690,446 640,143 299,190

Staff costs and allowances 1,609,696 1,492,420 2,792,791

Other 895,655 830,401 1,027,923

Personnel costs 7,289,550 6,758,464 8,726,415

Depreciation 125,339 116,207 66,576

Facilities 1,228,631 4,362,798 1,309,792

Short-term support 5,247,506 8,260,833 466,628

Professional fees 441,622 409,447 413,365

Other 530,932 492,251 625,530

Other costs 7,574,030 13,641,536 2,881,891

Total Global Support cost 14,863,580 20,400,000 11,608,306

Corporate Partnership 747,284 692,840 1,366,336

Corporate Programmes 4,668,737 3,131,016 1,508,756

Corporate Knowledge Networks 82,128 76,144 489,548

Total Corporate cost 5,498,149 3,900,000 3,364,640

Total Global Support and Corporate 20,361,729 24,300,000 14,972,946

USA

SNV USA net spend 1,328,740 1,500,000 1,941,119

Total SNV spend 139,034,885 127,600,000 115,266,484
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Country spend
The overall 2015 total of EUR 117.3 million for spend in country operations was significantly over plan and prior year due to the 
strong growth in the RM business (25% above plan) with a generic subsidy spend of over 97% of plan.

Non-country spend
The total 2015 non-country spend of EUR 20.4 million includes the costs of GSU operations in the Hague and in certain country 
locations, the costs of Corporate Partnerships, Programmes and Knowledge Networks. 

GSU spend
The total GSU spend in 2015 was higher than in 2014. Although the structural operating cost base continued to be reduced year 
on year there were a number of additional end of subsidy cycle investments in systems and business processes, project support 
infrastructure and innovation, and in completing the workforce rightsizing operations carried out over the last years. 

Corporate Costs (Partnerships, Programmes and Knowledge Networks)
The total corporate expenditures of EUR 5.5 million were EUR 1.6 million above the plan and significantly higher than in 2014.

Corporate Partnership spend of EUR 0.7 million was only 50% of the 2014 level as a direct result of the completion of the LCDF 
programme, with spend only in DRC in 2015. On the other hand there was a large net increase of EUR 2.7 million against 2014 in 
cross cutting Corporate Programmes, including the Youth & Gender Employment programme with an expenditure of 1.4 million, 
the final year of the Junior Professionals Programme with an expenditure of 0.7 million, and the successful 2015 LCB Leadership 
Programme with an expenditure of 1.0 million. 

SNV USA 
SNV USA operations continued to show good growth, generating external revenues of EUR 8.8 million for projects carried out by 
SNV countries (EUR 5.6 million in 2014). Core subsidy support of EUR 1.8 million was utilised in supporting this continued 
progress during the year. The net overhead spend level was reduced against 2014 and there was an overall surplus of EUR 0.2 
million. 

Audit fees
Audit and other fees invoiced in the year were as follows:

EUR 2015 2014

Audit of Corporate and local reports - PwC Netherlands 428,105 338,982

                                                               - PwC Outside Netherlands 124,202 194,703

Project audit engagements 164,466 44,794

716,773 578,479

21. Spend covered by Transition Plan
Actual spend by year Total actual Total plan

EUR 2012 2013 2014 2015 2012-2015 CMAP

Category of spend:

Workforce rightsizing 154,034 576,051 1,243,297 1,402,111 3,375,493 5,800,000

Infrastructure decrease 247,201 0 6,050 1,593,868 1,847,119 2,200,000

Organisational costs incl prod innovation 336,352 1,220,364 1,112,212 3,636,126 6,305,054 5,100,000

Change capacity 400,862 713,158 660,152 448,335 2,222,507 900,000

Total transition spend 1,138,449 2,509,573 3,021,711 7,080,440 13,750,173 14,000,000

The agreement with DGIS (letter 3 July 2012) as set out in the Corporate Multi-Annual Plan (section 6.3 Transition Plan) was for a 
maximum of EUR 14 million to be utilised out of programme subsidy over the 4 year period 2012-2015, with flexibility between 
the years. The actual transition expenditure of EUR 13.8 million incurred over the 4 years was EUR 0.2 million within this agreed 
maximum. SNV has reported from 2012 onwards on a yearly basis the depletion of the transition budget.

As anticipated the transition spend was highest in the last year (2015) though there were also some variances within categories 
against plan as activities were adjusted to get the most efficient overall results in response to changing circumstances. The total 
for workforce rightsizing was EUR 3.4 million against CMAP of EUR 5.8 million, reflecting the prudent management of staff and 
SNV’s success in limiting severance through flexibilisation of the workforce in combination with rapid growth in resource 
management revenues and activities. The infrastructure decreases peaked in the final year, caused by move of Head Office in The 
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Hague and additional investments in field office infrastructure, as agreed with the Ministry. The realisation of this budget finished 
within EUR 0.4 million of target. The total of organisational costs and product innovation were EUR 1.2 million over the original 
plan with the LCB Leadership programme (LEAP) as follow up on the IOB evaluation contributing EUR 1 million of spend in the 
final year. Change capacity spend was also higher than original plan reflecting additional focus on business process improvement 
to prepare the organisation for the changed model.

Remuneration of CEO and Managing Board Members and Supervisory Board

Remuneration of CEO and Managing Board
All five managing board salaries for 2015 were based on a contractual workweek of 40 hours and were within the WNT norm and 
the DG norm set by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and referenced in the Partos code of conduct. During the year all expatriate 
employees of SNV including three managing board members were given the opportunity to exchange surplus accumulated leave 
for cash. All three eligible members of the managing board took this opportunity and in two cases this non-structural 
compensation increased the total annual income for two directors over the threshold of the VFI annual income norm.  The 
Remuneration Committee of SNV approved this one time off exception, using the ‘comply or explain’ clause of the Code. The third 
managing board member who exercised this opportunity and the remaining two members remained within the Code’s annual 
income norm.

Details of 2015

MB member A. van den Ham M.Farkas A. Wehkamp M. Ritchie T. Derksen

Function CEO MD GSS MD RE MD WASH MD Agri

Employment contract:
Duration Permanent Permanent Permanent Permanent Permanent

Period of service Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31

Full time percentage 100 100 100 100 100

Remuneration (EUR):
Gross salary and holiday allowance 118,584 109,550 109,550 109,550 109,550

Settlement of outstanding leave 0 0 37,922 12,219 22,037

118,584 109,550 147,472 121,769 131,587

Pension (employer) 15,253 14,979 14,979 11,972 20,669

Total remuneration 2015 133,837 124,529 162,451 133,741 152,256

 Individual WNT-maximum 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000

Details of 2014

MB member A. van den Ham M.Farkas A. Wehkamp M. Ritchie T. Derksen

Function CEO MD MD MD MD

Employment contract:
Duration Permanent Permanent Permanent Permanent Permanent

Period of service Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31

Full time percentage 100 100 100 100 100

Remuneration (EUR):
Gross salary and holiday allowance 118,584 109,550 109,550 109,550 109,099

Pension (employer) 17,560 16,071 16,071 17,890 17,890

Total remuneration 2014 136,144 125,621 125,621 127,440 126,989

Individual WNT-maximum 230,474 230,474 230,474 230,474 230,474
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Remuneration of Supervisory Board
All Supervisory Board remuneration for 2015 was within the WNT norm.  

Details of 2015

SB Member A.Arnold J.Huis in 't Veld J.Richelle B. ter Haar R. deJong M. van reisen E. Vinke-Smits W.van Niekerk

Function Chairman Vice  Chairman Member Member Member Member Member Member

Jun 1 -Oct 6

Chairman

Period of service Jan 1-Oct 6 Jan 1-Nov 30 Oct 7 -Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Oct 7-Dec 31

Remuneration (EUR) 4,137 4,400 2,731 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 982

Taxable 
Allowances

- - - - - - - -

Provisions for future 
payments

- - - - - - - -

Total 
remuneration 
2015 4,137 4,400 2,731 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200 982

Applicable WNT 
maximum 2015

18,689 14,916 11,477 16,300 16,300 16,300 16,300 3,841

Details of 2014

SB Member A.Arnold J.Huis in 't Veld B ter Haar R.deJong M. van reisen E.Vinke-Smits

Function Chairman Vice Chairman Member Member Member Member

Period of service Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31 Jan 1-Dec 31

Remuneration (EUR) 5,400 4,800 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200

Taxable Allowances - - - - - -

Provisions for future 
payments

- - - - - -

Total remuneration 
2014 5,400 4,800 4,200 4,200 4,200 4,200

Applicable WNT 
maximum 2014

17,286 11,524 11,524 11,524 11,524 11,524

Other employees or temporary staff
No other employees or temporary staff of SNV received remuneration above the WNT-maximum in 2015. Nor were remunerations 
paid that were or had to be disclosed based on the WNT in previous years. In 2015 SNV did not pay termination of employment 
payments to former employees that should be reported in these annual accounts based on the WNT.
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Balance sheet SNV Foundation after appropriation of balance of income and 
expenditure (all amounts are in Euro)

Assets Note 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Fixed Assets

Tangible Fixed Assets 1

Buildings & Terrain 861,653 727,963

Vehicles 1,373,651 1,211,085

Equipment 773,033 699,700

Other Inventory 754,618 102,753

Assets in transition 611,186 509,538

Subtotal 4,374,141 3,251,039

Financial Fixed Assets

Deposits 2 584,758 418,294

Subtotal 584,758 418,294

Current Assets

Resource Mobilisation Receivables 3 24,056,134 22,948,551

Debtors 4 1,719,973 1,325,891

Prepayments & Accrued 5 3,187,356 2,646,655

Subtotal 28,963,463 26,921,097

Cash & Bank 6 75,788,418 63,015,985

Subtotal 75,788,418 63,015,985

Total Assets 109,710,780 93,606,415

The Balance Sheet SNV Foundation represents the position of the Netherlands foundation SNV (these numbers are the aggregate 
of all countries, excluding LLC US and SNV USA).
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Liabilities Note 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Reserves 7

Free Reserves 35,824,136 36,232,077

Earmarked reserve 6,597,000 0

Subtotal 42,421,136 36,232,077

Provisions

Provisions 8 198,788 345,321

Provision for Severance 9 1,439,974 1,176,563

Subtotal 1,638,762 1,521,884

Current Liabilities

Resource Mobilisation Payables 10 45,124,915 25,900,235

Ministry of Foreign Affairs Subsidy 11 5,935,934 16,940,286

Creditors 12 3,335,061 1,756,200

Accrued Expenses 13 8,764,390 8,974,445

Taxes & Social Security 14 1,329,999 882,846

Pensions 16 1,160,583 1,398,443

Subtotal 65,650,882 55,852,454

Total Liabilities 109,710,780 93,606,415

The Balance Sheet SNV Foundation represents the position of the Netherlands foundation SNV (these numbers are the aggregate 
of all countries, excluding LLC US and SNV USA).
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Statement of financial performance SNV Foundation (all amounts are in Euro)

Note Realised 2015 Realised 2014

INCOME

  Subsidy Income Ministry of Foreign Affairs 17 51,104,352 47,901,472

  Revenue from Resource Mobilisation 18 92,731,891 68,093,574

  Interest received 19 136,262 151,234

Total Income 143,972,505 116,146,280

EXPENDITURE 20

Countries 117,418,840   97,903,740

  Total country spend 117,418,840   97,903,740

Global Support Unit 14,863,580 11,608,306

Partnership Costs 5,498,149 4,864,640

  Total GSU spend 20,361,729 16,472,946

  Total Expenditure 137,780,569 114,376,686

BALANCE INCOME AND SPEND 6,191,936 1,769,594

Attributable to Reserves:

Interest 98,814 124,337

Net result SNV Foundation (503,878) 1,645,257

Appropriation to earmarked reserves 6,597,000 0

Total 6,191,936 1,769,594

Balance after appropriation 0 0

The Statement of Financial Performance SNV Foundation represents the result of the Netherlands foundation SNV (these numbers 
are the aggregate of all countries, excluding LLC US and SNV USA).

Notes to the annual accounts of SNV Foundation
Reporting entity
The annual accounts of SNV Foundation are included in the consolidated annual accounts of SNV.

General accounting principles for the preparation of the financial statements
The company annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with RJ 640 accounting standards. For the general principles for 
the preparation of the annual accounts, the principles used for the valuation of assets and liabilities and determination of the 
result, and for the notes to the specific assets and liabilities and results, reference is made to the accounting principles set out in 
the consolidated annual accounts and the notes thereafter.

Reserves
The note on Reserves in the consolidated financial statements sets out the amount within the consolidated reserves relating to the 
Foundation and to SNV USA.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Supervisory Board of Stichting SNV Nederlandse Ontwikkelingsorganisatie

Report on the financial statements 2015

Our opinion
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Stichting SNV 
Nederlandse Ontwikkelingsorganisatie as at 31 December 2015, and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with the 
Guideline for annual reporting 640 ‘Not-for-profit organisations’ of the Dutch Accounting Standards Board.

What we have audited
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2015 of Stichting SNV Nederlandse Ontwikkelingsorganisatie, Den Haag 
(‘the foundation’). The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of Stichting SNV Nederlandse 
Ontwikkelingsorganisatie and its subsidiaries (together: ‘the Group’) and the company financial statements.

The financial statements comprise:

• the consolidated and foundation balance sheet as at 31 December 2015;
• the consolidated and foundation statement of financial performance;
• the consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended and
• the notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is the Guideline for annual 
reporting 640 ‘Not-for-profit organisations’ of the Dutch Accounting Standards Board and with the rules of and following the Dutch 
Standards for Remuneration of Senior Officials in the Public and Semi – Public Sector Act (WNT).

The basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the section ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ of our report. We are 
independent of Stichting SNV Nederlandse Ontwikkelingsorganisatie in accordance with the ‘Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van account ants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO) and other relevant independence requirements in the 
Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA).

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter
Furthermore, in our opinion the expenditures accounted for in the statements of financial performance meet the requirements of 
legitimacy as defined in the funding agreement dated 13 September 2006 between SNV Netherlands Development Organisation 
and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Responsibilities of the managing board and the Supervisory Board
The managing board is responsible for:

• the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the Guideline for annual reporting 640 
‘Not-for-profit organisations’ of the Dutch Accounting Standards Board and with the rules of and following the Dutch 
Standards for Remuneration of Senior Officials in the Public and Semi – Public Sector Act (WNT); and for

• such internal control as the managing board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Managing Board is responsible for assessing the foundation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned, the managing board should prepare the 
financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless the managing board either intends to liquidate the 
foundation or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The Managing Board should disclose events and 
circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial 
statements. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the foundation’s financial reporting process.
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit engagement to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a 
basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high but not absolute level of assurance which makes it possible that we 
may not detect all misstatements. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered to be material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements.

A more detailed description of our responsibilities is set out in the appendix to our report.

Amsterdam, 12 May 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.

J.L. Sebel RA

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., Thomas R.Malthusstraat 5, 1066 JR Amsterdam, P.O. Box 90357,
1006 BJ Amsterdam, The Netherlands 
T: +31 (0) 88 792 00 20, F: +31 (0) 88 792 96 40, www.pwc.nl
‘PwC’ is the brand under which PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180285), PricewaterhouseCoopers Belastingadviseurs N.V. (Chamber of 
Commerce 34180284), PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180287), PricewaterhouseCoopers Compliance Services B.V. (Chamber of 
Commerce 51414406), PricewaterhouseCoopers Pensions, Actuarial & Insurance Services B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 54226368), PricewaterhouseCoopers B.V. (Chamber of 
Commerce 34180289) and other companies operate and provide services. These services are governed by General Terms and Conditions (‘algemene voorwaarden’), which 
include provisions regarding our liability. Purchases by these companies are governed by General Terms and Conditions of Purchase (‘algemene inkoopvoorwaarden’). At 
www.pwc.nl more detailed information on these companies is available, including these General Terms and Conditions and the General Terms and Conditions of Purchase, 
which have also been filed at the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce.
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the financial statements 2015 of Stichting SNV 
Nederlandse Ontwikkelingsorganisatie
In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report we have further set out in this appendix our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements and explained what an audit involves.

The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit in accordance with 
Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
Our audit consisted, among others of the following:

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the intentional override of internal control.

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the foundation’s internal 
control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by The managing board.

• Concluding on the appropriateness of The managing board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a material uncertainty exists related to events and/or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report and are made in the context of our opinion on the financial statements as a whole. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the foundation to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

Considering our ultimate responsibility for the opinion on the company’s consolidated financial statements we are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. In this context, we have determined the nature and extent of the 
audit procedures for components of the group to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole. Determining factors are the geographic structure of the group, the significance and/or risk profile 
of group entities or activities, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the group operates. On this basis, 
we selected group entities for which an audit or review of financial information or specific balances was considered necessary.

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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SNV Head Office
Parkstraat 83
2514 JG The Hague
The Netherlands
Tel: +31 (0)70 3440 244
Email: info@snv.org

www.snv.org


